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PREFACE

Mr. Kirby wishes to thank firstly Lord Radnor, for kindly permitting the
publication of this Calendar of his Cartulary, and secondly Mr. K. H.
Rogers, formerly County Archivist of Wþtshire, who lent a microýlm of
the Cartulary, and the staffs of both the V/iltshire and Somerset County
Record Offices. He is also indebted to Dr. Roy Hunnisett, who critically
examined both the text and indexes, and to Dr. Paul Brand, who read the
whole of the text, and advised on a number of points. Without their help
the number of errors would have been very much larger.

JANE FREEMAN
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INTRODUCTION

THE HUNGERFORD CARTULARIES ð HISTORY AND DESCRIPTION

Two cartularies of the Hungerford family survive from the middle of the
15th century; one belonging to the earl of Radnor (the Radnor Cartulary)
is deposited in the Wiltshire County Record Office at Trowbridge
(\V.R.O. 490/1470), the other, formerly owned by the Hobhouse family,
and now by the Somerset Natural History and Archaeological Society (the
Hobhouse Cartulary), is in the Somerset County Record Office at Taunton
(S.R.O. DD SAS H/348). A fragment of a third cartulary is also amongst
the records of the earl of Radnor in the Wiltshire Record Office (W.R.O.
490/1469). This consists of 37 deeds dated between 1421 and 1470
concerned with the family's own settlements of its properties mainly in
Wiltshire, and it may well have been prepared as a supplement to the
Radnor Cartulary. Only ýve deeds (nos.458, 661-2 and 666-7) in the
Radnor Cartulary are duplicated by these 37.
Two folios from a fourth cartulary, now lost, are in the library of the

Society of Antiquaries of London (MS 136, part iii, ff.37ð8). The fourth
copy is in a more formal bookhand than the others, and was perhaps the
original from which the others were copied. It comprises entries 750-4
and 777-83 of the Radnor Cartulary; 754, 777 and 783 being
incomplete. It is likely that the original, whichever that was, was made for
Walter, the first Lord Hungerford, who died in 1449. The only
documents in the Radnor Cartulary dated after his death are the belated
and incomplete inquisition on Robert his son, the second Lord
Hungerford (no.761), and a number of deeds dated between 1459 and
1468, (nos.661ð7 and 920-33), entrusting some of the properties to
feoffees, either in the hope of safeguarding them in time of civil war, or
to raise money to pay off debts. This inquisition and the deeds are not
included in the Hobhouse Cartulary. The fact that they appear to be in
the same hand as the bulk of the Radnor Cartulary suggests that this was a
copy made after 1468. No.362 and occasional marginals in a later hand
may also suggest that it was a working copy.
The Radnor Cartulary has the following 19th-century title-page:

Register of the title-deeds, grants, leases and other evidences respecting lands
in the several counties of Wilts, Berks and Somerset belonging at divers
periods to the family of Hungegford, which, exclusively of certain ones of
supposed earlier dates, arefrom the year 1 199 to the year 1470.
This boole was newly bound and placed among the muniments of Longford

Castle by its proprietorJacob, earl ofRadnor, /1.D. 1822.
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The main parts of the Hungerford estates were retained by the family
until about 1685, when it may be supposed that they also parted with the
cartularies, but what happened to these documents before the 19th century
is not known. Evidently the Radnor copy had come into the possession of
that family by 1822 and Sir Richard Colt Hoare was using the Hobhouse
Cartulary for his History of Modern I/Viltshire early in the century. It was
inherited by Henry Hobhouse (1776-1854), archivist, civil servant and
privy councillor from his uncle, the Reverend John Jenkyn, vicar of
Evercreech, in 1825. It descended to his son, Edmund Hobhouse
(1817-1904), sometime bishop of Nelson in New Zealand, and so to his
nephew, the Right Hon. Henry Hobhouse (1854-1937) who presented it
in 1911 to the Somerset Archaeological and Natural History Society, which
Society deposited it in the County Record Office at Taunton. This
Hobhouse Cartulary, bound originally in white leather, has several times
been rebound, most recently in boards in 1937 under the supervision of the
British Museum library. The folios are numbered in a contemporary hand,
but in arabic numerals in contrast with the ronians of the Radnor.
This present volume, apart from a few cross-references, is solely concerned
with the Radnor Cartulary. It is hoped that it will later be possible to produce
a further volume to include those parts of the Hobhouse Cartulary, which are
not duplicated by this volume, as well as the deeds contained in the
fragmentary Radnor cartulary (VI/.R.O. 490/ 1469).
The Radnor Cartulary comprises 302 folios in a mid-15th-century hand,

numbered 1-196, 200-249 and 255-310 in roman numerals (eight numbers
not being used) and in a hand which appears to be contemporary with the
writing of the text. Twenty-one folios (20, 26-8, 30-3, 135-42, 195-6, 266
and 269-70 are blank), and there are also seven folios with blank versos.
The folios now measure approximately 275 X 365 mm. They are bound in
a somewhat arbitrary (but according to the numeration in roman figures
nearly contemporary) order in heavy wooden boards. The wide margins
have been cropped for binding, perhaps more than once.
The deeds are arranged in groups according to the places concerned:
folios 1-12 Marston and Stratton: 13-19 Cricklade: 20 blank: 21-25
Britford: 26-8 blank: 29 Cornwall: 30-3 blank: 34-46 Winterbourne Stoke:
47-58 Westminster, Charing Cross (Middlesex): 59-66 Mildenhall: 67-90
Rushall: 91-106 Chippenham: 107-10 chantries in Chippenham and
Heytesbury: 111-26 Upton Scudamore and Warnunster: 127-31 Rowley:
132-3 Hungerford, Sandon and Charlton (Berkshire and Wiltsliire): 134
Britford: 135-42 blank: 143-74 Heytesbury south: 175-82 Heytesbury east:
183-94 Heytesbury west: 195-6 blank: 197-9 non-existent: 200-20 Teffont
Evias, Dalwood: 221-36 Wellow (Somerset): 237-47 Farleigh I-Iungerford
(Somerset): 248-9 Twinhoe (Somerset): 250-4 non-existent: 255-65 Wellow
(Somerset): 266 blank: 267-8 Kilmersdon (Somerset): 269-70 blank: 271-3
Little Cheverell: 275-6 Selwood forest (Somerset and Wiltshire): 277-8
Farleigh Hungerford (Somerset): 280-310 Farleigh Hungerford chantry. At
least one folio seems to have been lost as item no.74 is unýnished and no.
570 lacks a beginning in both cartularies. Folios 1-279 of the Radnor
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Cartulary are calendared in this volume. The deeds relating to the Farleigh
Hungerford chantry, which were very fully calendared and translated by
Canon Jackson from the Hobhouse Cartulary in his Guide to Farleigh
Hungerford, 1879, have been omitted here. In the same work he also briefly
calendared the deeds relating to Farleigh Hungerford which occur as
nos.750-825 and 947-50 in this volume. J I _ _
Exact copies of all these items, except for those relating to the chant
of Chippenham and Heytesbury and to Kilmersdon and Little Chevei
and except a few late deeds, also appear in the Hobhouse Cartul:
although not in the same order. That they are copied either from each ot
or from a common source is proved by the coincidence of errors .
omissions. The Hobhouse Cartulary has in addition sections on Chelwo
Corston, Durnford, Rowden, Staunton (Somerset) and Tellisf
(Somerset), comprising about 45 folios in addition to the 280 which
duplicated, making altogether with blanks 346 folios. The pages, 350 X I
mm., are larger than the Radnor ones, not having been cropped in bindi
The 950 items in the Radnor Cartulary comprise some 700 private dc
or charters, 63 royal charters, letters patent or writs, 54 final concords,
inquisitions post mortem, 31 pleas or proceedings in court, a few lett
bonds, receipts for money, petitions, and statements of homage, one pi
of age, two pedigrees (of the Montfort lords of Farleigh, and the I-Iu.
ancestors of Walter Hungerford) and the perambulation of Selwood foi
They range in date from about 1150 to 1468.
About 1300 deeds, unlike the cartularies, descended from
Hungerford family to that of Hastings, and were briefly calendared by
Historical Manuscripts Commission (Report on the manuscripts of the
Reginald Rawdon Hastings, vol.i, 1928, pp.1ð322). Of these only ei
appear to be the originals of items calendared here (nos.669, 672-4, t
787, 719 and 731).
Nos.363 and 424 were very brieþy calendared by Sir Richard Colt Hoare f

the Hobhouse Cartulary, ff.25ð33, in his Modern I/Viltshire, I/Varminster Hum
pp.59ð62; and nos.750ð825 and 947-50 by CanonJ.E. Jackson as stated above

THE HUNGERFORD FAMILY

Our knowledge of the Hungerford family begins with two broth
Robert, knight, who died in 1352, and Walter. Robert and Geva his v
widow of Adam de Stock, held the manor of Rushall in 1316 (nos.99-I
202). Both Walter and Robert became Wiltshire gentry, served as kni,
of the shire for the county between 1324 and 1339, Robert nine times
Walter three times, and served on various commissions. Both VI
frequently named as witnesses on private charters,ó whilst Robert I

1. Tiopenell Cart. i, pp.203-4, 243; Edington Cart. nos.339, 341, 418, 429-30.
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several offices on the estates of successive earls of Lancaster, including the
stewardship of their Wiltshire lands; most of Robertôs estates were held for
life only, either jointly with Geva or in her dower,ó but he gave generously
to religious foundations and churches, including Stanley abbey, Ivychurch
priory, St. Johnôs church at Calne and the parish church of Hungerford,
where he founded a chantry and was buried; and where the remains of his
sadly neglected monument may still be seen.
Walter his brother acquired six acres in Heytesbury in 1366 (no.516), and

appeared as a witness with his son, Thomas, as late as 1361 (no.37). It was
this Thomas who was the real founder of the family fortunes. Two deeds of
1355-6 (nos.203, 205) appear to distinguish between Thomas Hungerford,
citizen, merchant and mayor of Salisbury, and Thomas son of Walter
Hungerford, and it is not therefore possible to be sure that the many ofýces
held by Thomas Hungerford were all held by Thomas son of Walter. The
mayorôs wife was called Helen (Elena) and the wife of Thomas son ofWalter
was Eleanor, perhaps too close to be sure that they were distinct. Certainly
Thomas son of Walter married first Eleanor Strug, who was living in 1370,
and secondly Joan Huse, widow of John Whyton. Both must have made
useful contributions to his estates. The pedigree (no.737) traces the descent
of Joan in 10 generations from Hubert Husee, companion of the
Conqueror, and himself descended from the dukes of Normandy. More
valuable, however, was Thomas's own expertise as a steward of lands, which
brought him on to the council ofJohn of Gaunt and made him steward of
the Burgherssh manor of Heytesbury, one of three Heytesbury manors
which he was eventually to acquire from Elizabeth Despenser, heir of the
Burgherssh family, perhaps by somewhat devious methods. Thomas served
in due course as escheator and sheriff of Wiltshire, represented Wiltshire
eleven times and Somerset four times in parliament and became in 1377 the
ýrst member to be given the title of Speaker. Meanwhile he was knighted
and proceeded to build himself a considerable landed estate. He had several
sons by his two wives, but only one, Walter, was still alive when Thomas
died in 1398, probably aged about 70. Chief amongst his territorial
acquisitions apart from the three Heytesbury manors (nos.464-660) was the
manor of Farleigh Mountfort (which henceforth gradually became known
as Farleigh Hungerford) in Somerset with the manor and hundred of
Wellow (nos.750-854).
Walter, who became the first Lord Hungerford, was born on 22 June
1378, and being almost of age on his fatherôs death very soon took
possession of half his fatherôs estates, the other half being held by Joan his
mother in dower, in jointure, or in her own right. Described in 1400 as a
óking's knightô, Walter quickly took his place at the court of Henry IV,
serving as escort to the kingôs daughter when she went to Denmark to
become the queen there. In his turn he served as sheriff of Wiltshire and in
several parliaments, becoming Speaker in 1414.

1. CIPM x no.41.
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Steward of the royal household under Henry V, Walter served at
Agincourt and in later campaigns in France, where the king granted him
the lordship of le Hommet dôArthenay in Normandy. Henceforth he
described himself as lord of Heytesbury and Homer or Hommet, linking his
largest English estate with the Norman lordship; and although the latter can
have been little more than an empty title he continued to use it for most of
his life. Having been named by Henry V as one of the guardians of his son,
Hungerford was a prominent member of the council of Henry VIôs
minority. In 1426 he became treasurer of England and a baron, being
summoned to parliament as Lord Hungerford. As such he continued to play
a part in the affairs of the kingdom almost until his death in 1449.
Walter added to his estates in the south-western counties by his two
marriages, to Katharine Peverell and to Eleanor, countess of Arundel.
When he became a councillor of Henry VI he had to spend a large part of
the year in London and consequently needed a London house. His purchase
of the estate at Charing Cross is documented in nos.119-60.
By his ýrst wife he had at least three sons, all of whom served in the

French wars. Walter the eldest was captured and ransomed but died before
his father. The second son, Robert, succeeded as 2nd Lord Hungerford and
married Margaret Botreaux. He died in 1459. His son, also Robert, the 3rd
lord, married Eleanor Moleyns, heir to the considerable Moleyns
properties, but like his uncle he was taken prisoner in France and the
ransoms needed to release them crippled the family fortunes. Moreover, as
Lord Hungerford and Moleyns he inherited his familyôs loyalty to the house
of Lancaster, which proved a ýirther disaster to the family fortunes. He was
attainted in 1461, captured at Hexham in 1464 and immediately executed
at Newcastle.
His mother, Margaret, Lady Hungerford and Botreaux, struggled
meanwhile to maintain the family estates. When she died in 1478, a
óWritingô annexed to her will explained the expenses she had incurred in
ransoming her son, captured in France (Ã12,000), and supporting her
grandson, Sir Thomas (Ã6,000), whilst she herself had her goods
confiscated and was confined to the nunnery at Amesbury.l Thomas, the
eldest son of the 3rd lord, was in his turn executed as a traitor in 1469, but
Walter his brother, after serving Edward IV, fought on the winning side at
Bosworth and was restored to part of the family estates. A councillor of
both Henry VII and Henry VIII he lived until 1516, when a new peerage
was created for his grandson, also Walter, who became the first (and last)
baron Hungerford of Heytesbury, of the second creation, the former titles
of the family having been taken to the Hastings family by Mary, the only
child of Sir Thomas who died in 1469. This Walter was beheaded in 1540
but the fam.ily retained a large part of the estates until they were gambled
away at the court of Charles II.
The most detailed account of the medieval Hungerfords is still my

1. Hoare, Modern I/Vilt.sh|'re, Heytesbury Hundred, pp.100-102.
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unpublished London University thesis óThe Hungerford family in the later
middle agesô, 1936. Biographies of the two most important members of the
family, the two speakers, Thomas (d.1398) and Walter, afterwards 1st lord,
were published by J.S. Roskell in The Commons and their Speakers in English
Parliaments 1376-1523, 1965; and in The History of Parliament, the house cf
Commons 1386-1421, edited by J.S. Roskell and others, vol. iii, 1992.
Accounts of the family are also to be found in Hoare, Modern Wiltshire, and
Jackson, Farleigh Hungeýord, and biographies of most of the prominent
members in the Dictionary cfNational Biography.

EDITORIAL METHOD

It should be remembered that the clerk who wrote the first of the
cartularies was copying handwritings which in some cases were already two
hundred or more years out of date, and as he sometimes had difficulty in
reading the original deeds, some of the text is corrupt and the translation
can only be conjectural, or, in cases such as no.245, impossible. Some
names seem similarly to be unlikely, but can only be transcribed as given.
For ease of reference all the entries are numbered and calendared in the

order in which they appear in the Radnor Cartulary. Each entry in the
calendar begins with this number followed by the folio number, and usually
by a small roman number. This last number appears in the margin of the
original text and presumably represents the number in the bundle of deeds
from which the original cartulary was compiled. Other marginals, mostly
notes of the contents of items made at a later date have been ignored. The
numbers are followed by the place of dating, and the date itself where given
in the original. Dates ofundated items have normally been supplied here, in
square brackets, only when a fairly precise date can be given from other
sources. All regnal years have been changed to years A.D. Where the day
and month is derived from its relation to a Saintôs day this dating is given in
brackets. Where entries are in French, or in very rare cases English, this is
stated after the date. The majority of items, for which no language is
mentioned, are in Latin.
Place names have been modernised, with contemporary spellings or

variations given in the index. Where there is any doubt about the
identification the contemporary form is also given in brackets in the text.
Places which are not themselves parishes have the parish added, in square
brackets if it is not given in the text. For non-Wiltshire places the county is
indicated. Unidentified places are in single quotes.
Similarly words ofwhich the translation may be doubtful have been given
in Latin in brackets on their first occurrence.
Surnames have been given as in the text, but changed to the nominative

case where the intended case ending is clear. Persons with no surname,
including those described as óClerkô or óChaplainô are indexed under the
forename, and also under Clerk or Chaplain, which like other descriptions
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of occupations are treated as surnames in the index, even though probably
intended simply to indicate status. The words óand many othersó which
invariably follow a list of witnesses have been omitted. As it is not always
possible to distinguish between persons of the same name two persons may
in some cases be indexed as one, and, on the other hand, one person,
differently described in different deeds, may sometimes have two entries.
Feet of fines (final concords) and other entries which have been

calendared elsewhere are summarised as brieþy as possible, with reference to
the printed calendar. Dates given by reference to saint's days have also been
given in the modern form, except for dates on feet of fines which are
óreturn daysô, the date on which the writ initiating the action was returnable
in court, and not the exact day on which the agreement was made. These
are left as in the original. References have been given for items which have
been found enrolled in the public records. All manuscripts referred to are,
unless otherwise stated, in the Public Record Office. The P.R.O. classes to
which reference is made are listed on page xi.
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[f.1 and 1v headed]: Wilts - Marston and Stratton

1 (f.1, no.i).
Charter of Richard son of Arnald granting with warranty to Osbert son of
Arnald de Lay in frank marriage with Emma his daughter 4 a. arable and 1 a.
meadow in South Marston: in the east ýeld 1 a. in óBerefurlonge' and 1 a. in
óSortelondeô lying next the land ofJohn de Berton; in the west ýeld 1 a. under
óWopwolle', 1 a. by north óBenulleó lying next Henry Puignant and 1 a. and
[sic] óBrokforlonge' nearest to South Marston; and pasture for 2 oxen in the
marsh wherever his animals graze; to hold to him and his heirs by Emma,
rendering yearly to Richard 9d. at Easter and 9d. at Michaelmas, with reversion
to Richard and his heirs. Witnesses: Robert de Molendo, William Wardebek,
Adam Aylrner, Richard his brother, John de Berton, Robert Hildid, Walter
Hildid, Robert son ofWilliam Godefrid, William Herward, chaplain.

2 (f.1, 110.11).
Charter of Margaret de Revers, daughter and heir ofWarin son of Ger[ard],
granting with warranty to Ralph Spuham for his homage and service a plot
of land at Stratton St. Margaret next to the graveyard of Stratton church
towards the west, and the highway (chiminum regale) as far as the land of
Ralph de Orgorlles to the south, extending from the graveyard to the
highway and to the path (semita) leading to the church towards the north;
rendering to her 1d. yearly at Michaelmas. Also release to Ralph of suit at
the hundred court except at the two great hundreds at Martinmas and
Hockday. Witnesses: Roger de Chalona, Robert de Waltham, Gilbert de
Columbre, Hugh de Henton, Ralph de Henton, Peter le Clerk, Lawrence
de Burton, Richard de Penna, Robert Arquel.

3 (f.1-1v, n0.iii).
Charter of Walter Brutour granting with warranty to Ralph Spugham for
his homage and service 4 a. in Stratton St. Margaret (Stratton) lying in the
meadow (herama) of Richard Fol next the land ofWilliam de Fernes on one
side and that of Roger Wreenche, brother of Walter, on the other,
rendering yearly to Walter 8d. at Easter and 8d. at Michaelmas. Witnesses:
Robert de Noent, Thomas Maudut, Lawrence de Bluntesdon, Robert
Avenel, James de Grundewelle, Henry de Writele, William Brion, Ellis de
Mordon, Adam de Molendo, Richard de Molendo, Richard de Penna,
Gregory de Wika, Henry de Wika, Neil Avenel, Stephen Avenel.
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4 (f.1v, no.iv).
Charter of Roger son of Ralph de Stratton granting with the agreement of
his wife and his heirs to Richard son ofWilliam de Henton, for his homage
and service, 1 hide in Upper Stratton with a messuage and croft lying next
the house of Geoffrey de Okeburn with all its meadow and pasture,
rendering yearly to Roger 1 lb. pepper at Michaelmas for all services save
those due to the king and save the ward of Kingsdown. Witnesses: Roger
Pipard, Hubert Maucovenant, John Wace, Roger de Calna, Hilary de
Bathaton, Roger de Stittescumb, Hamo Hosatus, Michael parson of Cleeve,
Thomas Okeburne.

[f.2 headed]: Wilts ð Stratton

5 (ff.1vð2, no.v).
Charter of Hugh son of Richard son ofWilliam [de Henton] granting with
warranty to Ralph Spugham 1 hide in Stratton St. Margaret (Stratton) of
the fee of Roger son of Ralph, which Richard father of Hugh granted to
Ellis de Bovill in frank marriage with Josiana sister of Hugh, to hold to him
and his heirs by Agnes daughter of Josiana, who had no other heir,
rendering yearly to Hugh 1 lb. pepper at Easter. If Hugh is unable to
warrant it he will grant 1 hide of equal value in Hinton. Witnesses: Ralph
Gernun, Robert Maudut, Osbert Giffard, Reynold de Calne, Roger de
Cosinton, Ralph Chanu, Robert Avenel, Lawrence de Bluntesdon, Henry
de Writele, Robert de Niwent, William Brian, Henry the Clerk.

6 (f.2, no.vi).
Charter of Richard son ofWilliam [de Henton] granting with warranty and
with the agreement of his wife and his heirs to Ellis de Bonoville [sic] 1 hide
in Stratton St. Margaret of the fee of Roger son of Ralph, in frank marriage
with Josiana his daughter, to hold to him and his heirs by her, rendering
yearly to Richard 1 lb. pepper at Easter, and if Richard or his heirs be
unable to warrant this hide they will give 1 hide of equal value in Hinton.
Witnesses: Adam son of Neil, Maurice de Berkelei, Peter de Eston, Hamo
Hosatus, John Wake, Reynold de Calna, Roger de Cositon, Roger de
Linches, Hugh de Wike, Robert Be'"tya, Alfred de Wlepereve, Maurice de
Bonevile, John de Litleton.

7 (f.2, no.vii).
Charter of Richard de Hentone, knight, granting to Roger de Camera a
rent of 1 lb. pepper from 1 hide at Upper Stratton which Richard de
Hentone, father of Hugh, gave to Ellis de Buve in frank marriage with Josia
his daughter. For this grant and conýrmation Roger gave 16s. Witnesses:
Roger de Writil, Adam de Gay, Roger de Byr, Simon Robbe, Reynold de
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la Hoka, James de Grundewelle, Nicholas Pilie, John Haylmer, Stephen de
Wyke, William Cissor, Ralph Despenser, Anketil de Lydehard.

[f.2v headed]: Wilts - Stratton St. Margaret, Upper Stratton

8 (f.2v, no.viii).
Charter of William le Palmer of Stratton St. Margaret (Stratton) granting
with warranty to John Sprugham for his homage 15 a. arable in Stratton St.
Margaret (Netherstratton) in the north field between the land of Adam de
Angulo on one side and that of William de la Drove on the other, and
extending above the land of Henry Edriid to the north and above that of
William Odo to the south, rendering Zd. yearly at Michaelmas. Grant also of
free access to the H a. for him and his beasts. For this grant and conýrmation
John gave 20s. Witnesses: John de Gardino, William Avenel, Alexander son
of Richard, William de Walekote, John son of Thomas de Erguel, Nicholas
Ailwyn, Odo de Overton, Walter Bothyn, Ralph the Clerk.

[f.3 headed]: Wilts ð Stratton St. Margaret, Upper Stratton and Marston

9 (ff.2v-3, no.ix).
Charter ofJohn son and heir of Ralph Esprugeham granting to Robert son
and heir ofJohn de Bertone all his lands and tenements in the hundred of
Highworth, in the vills of Upper Stratton and Stratton St. Margaret, and all
his meadow in óDruehenemedeô and all his pasture at Kingsdown in the
same hundred, rendering the customary services to the chief lords. For this
grant and confirmation Robert gave 100 marks. Witnesses: Robert de
Lusteshulle, Waleran de Bluntesdon and Richard de Ripariis knights, Roger
de Writele, Roger Byr, James de Grundewelle, John Elmer, Richard Bryan
of Highworth, Roger Bryan of Blunsdon St. Andrew, Robert de
Molendino of Highworth, John Cocus of Hampton, William de Walcote,
Roger de Campo, Walter Hildit, Richard de Mariscis, Richard de Wyke,
William Serle, chaplain, William le Despenser.

10 (f.3, no.x).
Charter of John son and heir of John Esprugham granting to Robert son
and heir ofJohn de Bertone all his lands and tenements in Upper Stratton,
Stratton St. Margaret, Draycot, Haydon and Haydon Wick, rendering the
customary services to the chief lords. For this grant and confirmation
Robert gave 100 marks. Witnesses: Richard de Ripariis, Robert de
Lusteshulle and John Walrand, knights, Roger de Writele, Robert de
Abendone, Roger de Bury, John Aylrner, James de Grundewell, Richard
Brian, Richard de Mariscis.
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11 (f.3, no.xi).
Quitclaim of Alice widow of William Danwye of Sevenhampton in pure
widowhood to Robert de Berton of all her estate in 4 a. arable and 1 a.
meadow in South Marston with pasture for 2 draught animals (avert) in the
woodland (frethe) of the same place, all of which she had by the gift of
Osbert de la Heye and Emma his wife, her father and mother, rendering
the customary services to the chief lords. For this quitclaim Robert gave 1
mark. Witnesses: Master Richard de Abyndon, William de Stratton, Henry
de Avenewyk, Henry de Blountesden, Thomas de Mandvile, Lawrence de
Eyr, William Eylmer.

[ff.3v, 4, 4v and 5 headed]: Wilts - Marston

12 (f.3, no.xii).
Charter of William le Boteler of Sevenhampton granting with warranty to
Robert de Berton 2 a. arable in South Marston (Merston) in
óEstberforlongeó next the land of Walter de Wika to the west, and 1 a.
meadow in Sevenhampton lying óOversturieô, rendering a rose at
Midsummer yearly to William. For this grant and confirmation Robert
gave 10 marks. Witnesses: John Aylmer, Richard de Mariscis, Peter the
Chaplain, William Serle, Richard de Wyk, Walter Hildit, Walter
Molendinarius.

13 (f.3v, no.xiii).
Charter ofWilliam de Botillere of Sevenhampton, son of Ralph le Boteler,
granting with warranty to Robert son and heir of John de Berton 4 a.
arable and 1 a. meadow in South Marston in the hundred of Highworth
which he had by the gift of Osbert de la Ley and Emma his wife; 1 a. in the
east field in óBeref-orlongeó and 1 a. in óSorteforlonge' next the land of
Robert de Berton in the same field and 1 a. below óWolpwellô in the west
field and 1 a. by north óBenhullô next the land ofJohn Ponant in the same
field, and 1 a. meadow lying in óBrocforlonge' and pasture for 2 oxen in the
marsh of South Marston, rendering the customary services to the chief
lords. For this charter Robert gave 5 marks. Witnesses: Peter Chaplain and
farmer of South Marston, William Serle, chaplain, William Despenser,
Richard de Wyka, Walter Hildit, Thomas Godechepe, Walter called
Molendinarius.

14 (f.4, no.xiv).
Charter of Walter Hyldyet of South Marston granting with warranty to
William Wysbide of South Marston and Maud his wife for their service 1 a.
meadow called óHurdmedô which descended to him, rendering 1d. yearly to
Walter at Michaelmas. For this grant and confirmation William gave 6
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marks. Witnesses: Roger de la Bury, Richard de Marisco, Richard de
Wyke, John Walrand of Blunsdon St. Andrew, Roger Brian.

15 (f.4-4v, no.xv).
Charter of Walter Hyldyet of South Marston granting with warranty to
William Godchep of South Marston and Maud his wife 1 divided a. [in
South Marston]: ó/5 a. in the ýeld called óGodlondô next Walterôs land on one
side and the land formerly of Robert son of John de Berton on the other,
and % a. against óBradymourô next the land formerly of Thomas Roufrey on
one side and that formerly of Walter Abbod on the other, containing 2
selions, rendering 1d. yearly to Walter at Michaelmas, with freedom to give,
sell or bequeath in sickness or in health except to religious houses or Jews.
For this grant and conýrmation William made a payment (gersuma) of 3
marks. Witnesses: Roger de la Bury, Richard de Marisco, John Walrand,
Thomas Godchep, Richard de Wyke, William le Spencer, Roger Brian.

16 (f.4v, no.xvi).
Charter of Robert son of Walter Hyllyt of South Marston granting to
Robert de Berton all his lands and tenements in South Marston, rendering
the customary services to the chief lord. For this grant and conýrmation
Robert gave 10 marks. Witnesses: Robert de Lusteshull and John Walrond,
knights, Robert de Abyndon, Henry de Avenwyke, then bailiff of
Sevenhampton, John Eylmer, Roger Bryan, William Serle, chaplain,
Richard de Marisco, Richard de la Wyke.

17 (f.4v, no. xvii). Copy qf16

18 (ff.4vð5, no.xviii).
Quitclaim of Robert son of Walter Hillith of South Marston to Robert de
Berton of his rights in the land and tenements which his father formerly
held in South Marston. Witnesses: William Bluntesdon, knight, Robert de
Abendon, James de Grundewell, Walter Anketill, William Despenser,
Lawrence le Eyr, Walter called Molendinarius.

19 (f.5, no.xix).
Charter of William Hildyth granting all his lands and tenements in South
Marston and Bourton (Berton) to Robert de Berton to hold of the lord of the
fee rendering 2s. yearly to him, 12d. at Easter and 12d. at l\/Iichaelrnas, for all
secular services save those due to the king. For this grant and conýrmation
Robert gave 15 marks. Witnesses: Waleran de Bluntesdon, knight, Robert le
Chanu, Roger de Byry, James de Grundewelle, Peter de Molendino, Robert de
Molendino, John Aylmer, Roger Brian, Walter Hildith, Richard de Mariscis.
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[f.5v. headed]: Wilts - Marston, Stratton St. Margaret and Upper Stratton

20 (f.5-5v, no.xx).
Charter of William Hildyth granting all his lands and tenements in South
Marston in the hundred of Highworth to Robert son ofJohn de Bertone,
rendering the services due to the lord of the fee and to the king. Witnesses:
James de Grundewell, John Aylmer, Peter de Molendino, Robert de
Molendino, Walter Hylhith, Richard de Marisco, Richard de Wyke,
Thomas Godechip.

21 (f.5v, noxxi).
Charter of William le Iremonger of South Marston granting to Robert de
Berton 1 a. arable in South Marston which he had by the gift of William
Hildyet, rendering the customary services to the chief lord of the fee. For
this grant and conýrmation Robert gave 20s. Witnesses: Philip le Gay,
James de Grundewell, John Are,James de la More, John Aylmer.

[f.6 headed]: Wilts - Stratton St. Margaret, Upper Stratton

22 (ff.5vð6, no.xxii).
Charter of Ralph de Gardino of Stratton granting with warranty to Robert
de Berton 11% a. and 1 perch of arable in Upper Stratton and Stratton St.
Margaret: 1 a. in óSmaleweyesforlongeô; 1 a. in óLacforlongeô; % a. at
óHacchergateô; 1 head (capitalis) a. in óLangeforlonge'; 1 a. at óCockesputteô;
1% a. above the óCasteleô; 1 a. above óOchullô; Z a. at óHangelonde'; 1 a. in
óStondelvesforlongeô; 1 perch above Pen Hill; l® in óArnewelondeô; 1 a. in
óLongeforlonge'; 1 a. in óWetelonde'; and ó/5 a. in óBurforlondeô; also all the
meadow and pasture in these vills which belong to a óA hide in Upper
Stratton, and pasture for 3 draught animals in the common pasture there,
rendering yearly to Ralph a pair of white gloves at Michaelmas. For this
grant Robert has given 22 marks. Witnesses: Robert de Lusteshull and John
Walerand, knights, James de Grundewell, John Eylmer, Roger de Bury,
Roger Brian, Richard de Mariscis, Richard de Wyke, William Serle,
chaplain.

23 (f.6, no.xxiii).
Conýrmation with warranty by John de Gardino to Ralph Spugh of the
sale which Ralph Forke made to Ralph Spugh of1 virgate ofJohnôs fee in
Upper Stratton; Spuge and his heirs to render the same services as Ralph de
Forke rendered. Witnesses: Alexander son of Richard, William Palmer,
William Avenel, Thomas de Arguill, William de Slade, Simon Mariscallus,
Odo de Overton.
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24 (re, no.xi-tiv).
Charter of Adam son of Walter le Brut of Stratton St. Margaret granting
with warranty to Robert de Berton the 16d. rent which John Esprugham
pays for 4 a. arable in Stratton St. Margaret lying in óla Hamersoune' and
formerly of Richard de la Folie. For this grant and charter Robert gave 1
mark. Witnesses: Master Richard de Abyndon, Philip le Gay, James de
Grundewell, Richard Eylmer, James le Palmer, Robert son of James de
Wurthe, Lawrence le Eyr of Sevenhampton.

[ff.6v and 7 headed]: Wilts - Marston

25 (f.6-6v, no.1-cxv).
Quitclaim with warranty of Nicholas Wardebek to Robert de Berton of the
yearly rent of 6d. which he has paid at Michaelmas for his lands and tenements
in South Marston and Sevenhampton, rendering yearly to Nicholas a rose at
Midsummer. For this quitclaim Robert gave 10s. Witnesses: Robert de
Lusteshull and John Walrond, knights, John Eylnier, Roger Brian, Roger de
Bury, Richard de Mariscis, Walter Hildit, Richard de Wyke.

26 (f.6v, no.xxvi).
Quitclaim with warranty of Isabel de Orgoylys in widowhood to Robert
son and heir ofJohn de Berton of the yearly rent of lid. which he has paid
for Z a. lying above óBerhullô in Stratton St. Margaret in the hundred of
Highworth. For this quitclaim Robert gave 6d. Witnesses: William le
Palmer, Roger de Camera, Peter de Wilecote, John Hude, Neil le Saltare,
Richard de Mariscis, Walter Hildit, William le Dispencer.

27 (ff.6v-7, no.xxvii).
Quitclaim with warranty of Thomas Gambon to Robert son and heir of
John de Berton of the yearly rent of 1d. which he has paid for 1 a. lying
above óWoerhinche' in Haydon Wick in the hundred of Highworth. For
this quitclaim Robert gave 8d. Witnesses: Roger de Bury, John Eylmer,
William Serle, chaplain, Richard de Mariscis, Walter Hyldit, Richard de
Wyke, Walter Molendinarius.

28 (f.7, no.xxviii).
Quitclaim with warranty of Adam Giliberd of Haydon to Robert son and
heir ofJohn de Berton of the yearly rent of 1d. which he has paid for 36 a. in
Stratton St. Margaret below Pen Hill in the hundred of Highworth. For this
quitclaim Robert gave 12d. Witnesses: Roger de Bury, John Eylmer,
William Wytsyde, James de Grundewell, Richard de Mariscis, Walter
Hildit, Richard de Wyke, William Despencer.
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29 (f.7, no.xxix).
Charter of William Wardebek granting with warranty to John son of
Robert de Berton for his homage and service all his arable and meadow at
South Marston óad Riwardó and 6 a. next óRebaldeswey' to the west and all
his meadow in óChelesiesmede', rendering to William 6d. yearly at
Michaelmas for all services save those due to the king. Witnesses: Nicholas
de Lusteshulle, Waleran son of Waleran de Bluntesdon, Roger de Writele,
I-Ienry Doununce, Ralph Sprugham, Philip Maundevile, Robert de
Molendino, Richard son of Aylmer, Adam his brother, William Sailifest,
William de Leth, Nicholas Camel, William Fraunceis, Warin de Ailesbury,
William son ofHerward.

[ff.7v and 8, no heading]

30 (f.7v, no.xxx). London. 20 March (Sat. before Lady Day) 1305.
Agreement in chirograph form by which John de Bertone granted to
Master Richard de Abyndone 1 plot with garden in Bourton (Berton)
which Robert de Berton, brother ofJohn, held of Master Richard, in
exchange for a plot and croft in South Marston which were held by
William Byde, chaplain, excluding the arable, meadow and pasture which
he held in the ýelds. If the plot in South Marston be not equal in length
and breadth to that in Bourton, John may remove all the buildings in
Bourton except the dovecot before Michaelmas next. Witnesses: John de
Ryparia and Robert de Keynes, knights, John de Haghlegh, Adam
Walraund, Robert de Leueknore, James de Grundewelle, John Russell,
Richard de Lente, William de Maundevile, Lawrence le Eyr, John Are,
William de Stoundone,John de Crickelade.

31 (f.7v, no.xxxi). South Marston. 31 July (Thurs. before Lamrnas) 1309.
Quitclaim of Ainice called la Blake in pure widowhood to John de Berton
of all her rights of dower from her husband Walter I-Iildith in 1 messuage
and a plot ofland in the close in South Marston which he held and where
he lived and in part of the meadow called óIðIeldichesham'. Witnesses: James
de Grundewell, Master John Ar, Richard Aylmer, Peter de Walcote,
Thomas atte Merssh.

32 (ff.7vð8, no.xxxii). Stratton St Margaret. 1Jan. (Circumcision) 1311.
Charter of John de Berton granting with warranty to Reynold Bodyn of
Upper Stratton and Edith his wife all his parcels of meadow and arable in
the vill of óCoumbes' and in óLinches' and 1 a. arable above Pen Hill next
the land ofJohn le Thorn in Upper Stratton and pasture for 4 draught
animals in the common pasture there with certain common ýelds of the
same place, to hold for the term of their lives, rendering yearly to John
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8s. 4d. by equal parts at Michaelmas, Martinmas, Palm Sunday and
Midsummer; crops sown before the deaths of either or both of them to
remain to them or their assigns. Witnesses: Peter de Walcote, John Ode,
Thomas Julian, Walter de Canynges, John de la Slade.

[f.8v headed]: Wilts ð Upper Stratton

33 (f.8-8v, no.xx:xiii). Stratton St. Margaret. 1 Aug. (Mon. after St. James)
1317.
Charter of Thomas de Berton granting with warranty to John atte Hurne
of Stratton St. Margaret 1 messuage with garden (ortus) in Stratton St.
Margaret between the tenement formerly ofWilliam le Palmer on one side
and that of Walter atte Pountfelde on the other and 5% a., 1 rood of arable
in óWestmanfelde' of which % a. lies at óSulleô between the lands of Thomas
Julian and Adam atte Hurne, and % a. in the furlong (cultura) between the
lands of William de Canynges and Henry Elys, and % a. in the same
between the lands of Ralph Nel and Henry Helys, and ó/5 a. in the same
between the lands of Reynold, vicar of Stratton, and Henry Helys, and % a.
against Upper Stratton between the lands of Ralph Nel and Henry Helys,
and % a. in óle Brumelyfurlong' between the lands of Henry Helys and John
Mercer, and óA head a. in óle Vifeacresô between the land of Henry Helys
and óle Brumelyforlongó, and % a. in óle Lacforlong' between the land
formerly ofWilliam Malyn and that of Henry Helys, and % a. above Dockle
between the lands ofJohn de la Drove and Ralph de Morwelese and % a. in
óFretforlong' between the land formerly of William Malyn and that of
Henry Helys, and % a. in the ýeld of Harnells between the land of John
Wildefur and that formerly of Richard Stapulford, and 1 rood in óle
Southfelde' between the lands of Walter de Canynges and Henry Helys,
with pasture for 2 oxen in the common of óWestende' and for 1 ox in
Upper Stratton, to hold for the term of his life and 1 year more so that his
executors may enjoy the whole of the produce and crops of that year, he
and his executors rendering 10s. 10d. yearly, namely 2s. 6d. at each of St.
Thomas's day, Hockday and Midsummer, and 3s. 4d. at Michaelmas.
Witnesses: Walter de Canynges, Walter Qyayle, John Champeneys, Ralph
Nel, Lawrence le Mercer.

[f.9 headed]: Bourton (Berton) and other places

34 (ff.8vð9, no.xxxiv). Bishop's Cleeve. 2June (eve of Trinity) 1319.
Charter of Thomas de Berton, rector of Bishop's Cleeve, son of John de
Berton, granting with warranty to John son of John de Burghton all the
lands and tenements inherited from his father in Bourton, South Marston,
Highworth, Eastrop, Westrop, Upper Stratton, Stratton St. Margaret and
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Haydon with the homage and services of freemen and villeins, and with the
reversion of all the lands, tenements and rents which Richard, son of Ellis
de Coleshull, and Agnes his wife hold for the life of Agnes in these places
of the inheritance of Thomas, to hold to him and the heirs of his body of
the chieflords of the fee with remainder to Nicholas Russell, lord of
Strensham, Agnes his wife and his heirs. Witnesses: Thomas de Puryton,
Robert de Aston, Jordan de Baudynton, Thomas de Augmondesham, John
de Sloughter, Gilbert de Stane, John Are, James de Grundewell, Richard
Aylmer, Richard atte Widoe.

35 (f.9, no.xxxv). Place and date as last.
Deed of Thomas de Berton, rector of Bishopôs Cleeve, appointing John de
Sloughter or John de Blech of South Marston his attorneys to give seisin of
the premises listed above [no.34], with the addition of Draycot to the list of
places named, which he has inherited by the death ofJohn de Berton his
brother.

[f.9v headed]: Wilts ð Upper Stratton

36 (f.9ð9v, no.xxxvi). Stratton St. Margaret. 17 Sept. (Thurs. after
Exaltation of the Holy Cross) 1349.
Charter ofJohn de Burghton granting with warranty to John Canynges and
Matthew Chanewe all the lands and tenements formerly held by John
Sprugham in Upper Stratton, namely houses, crofts, dovecots, arable,
meadow and pasture, both several and common, to hold for the term of
their lives rendering 10s. yearly to John by equal parts at Easter and
Michaelmas, with licence to distrain if it be unpaid or the premises wasted.
Witnesses: Thomas le Blake, John Fykke, Henry le Walissh, John Wade,
John Alayn.

37 (f.9v, no.xxxvii). Stratton St. Margaret. 19Jan. (Tues. after Hilary) 1361.
Quitclaim ofWilliam Byde, clerk of Salisbury diocese, and Robert Forester,
vicar of Ogbourne, to John Bourthon, junior, of all their rights in 5%
virgates in Upper Stratton, and in 1 cottage and 1 dovecot in a place called
óPokesheyô and in a place called Kingsdown in all of which John Canyngges
and Matthew Chanew have an estate for the term of their lives by the grant
of John Bourthon, senior. Their seals being unknown, the oýcial seal of
the prebendal jurisdiction of Ogbourne has been attached. Witnesses:
Walter de Hungerford, Thomas de Hungerford, Robert Chaumberleyn,
John Canyngges, William Champeneys.

[lT.10, 10v and 11 headed]: Wilts - Marston
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38 (ff.9vð10, no.xxxviii). South Marston. 21 Jan. (Thurs. before
Conversion of St. Paul) 1361.
Charter ofJohn de Burghton, senior, granting to John his son and Alice,
Johnôs wife, all his lands and tenements in South Marston and all the
common pasture where the cattle of Thomas Sancto Omero, knight, lord of
Bourton, graze in the manor of Bourton, and also the cottages, rents and
services of tenants which John de Abyndone once held of him in South
Marston, with meadows and pastures, both several and common, to hold to
them and the heirs of their bodies, rendering to him 5 marks yearly by
equal parts at Easter and Michaelmas, with reversion to himself. Witnesses:
William son of Warin, Thomas de Sancto Omero and Edward de Sancto
Johanne, knights, John Canyngges, William Tybot, Richard Berebrut,
Richard Godechep.

39 (f.10-10v, no.xxxix). Bourton. 7 Dec. (Sun. before Conception of
B.V.M.) 1365.
Charter of John de Borghton granting with warranty to Thomas Pykote,
Alice his wife and Robert their son, 1 messuage with curtilage in South
Marston lying between the messuages of Andrew le Heywarde to the east
and of William le Cartere to the west; 8 a., 1 rood of arable in South
Marston of which % a. in óLongforlongô between the lands of Andrew le
Heyward and of William Hobbes, 3 roods in óRywardesladeô between the
lands of the lord of Bourton on both sides, % a. at óLowstedeô between the
lands of Andrew le Heyward and Robert Hobbes, % a. at óStokforlongeô
being the head of the furlong, % a. at óLedenhullô between the lands ofJohn
Marlebergh and Andrew le Heyward, 1 a. at óLeighmannesheysô between
the lands ofJohn Longe and Wiþiam Warde, 1 a. at óTrokenberghô between
the lands ofJohn James on both sides, 14 a. at óLithesmoreô next the land of
Richard Tybote and it is the head of the furlong, % a. at óBenhullô next the
land of the lord ofBourton, being the head of that furlong, % a. in the same
furlong between the lands of the lord of Bourton and that formerly ofJohn
Abendone, % a. at óWaddebrokeô between the lands of the lord of Bourton
and of Andrew le Heyward, 1 a. in the same furlong between the lands of
Andrew le Heyward and William Felawe; also pasture for 3 oxen in the
woodland; to hold for the term of their lives, rendering 6s. yearly to John
by equal parts at Hockday and Michaelmas. Witnesses: Robert le Cooke,
Matthew Chanu, Simon Berewyke, Thomas Swayn, Thomas Crooke, John
le Heose, Henry Walssh.

40 (ff.10-11, no.xl). Shalbourne. 23 Jan. 1413.
Indenture between Alice, widow of John Burghton, and Walter their son
and heir granting with warranty to Walter all the lands, tenements,
meadows, pastures, rents, reversions and services formerly held by John in
Upper Stratton, Stratton St. Margaret and South Marston for the term of
the life of Alice, rendering yearly to her Ã6 4s. 7d. by equal parts at Easter
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and Nlichaelmas, with licence to distrain if in arrears by 15 days. Witnesses:
William Changelton, William Coventre, Robert Andreu.

41 (f.11, no.xii). Harwell. 24 Jan. 1413.
Deed ofWalter son and heir ofJohn de Burghton appointing John Henton
his attorney to take seisin of the premises granted above [no.40].

[f.11v headed]: Wilts ð Stratton St. Margaret, Upper Stratton.

42 (f.11ð11v, no.xlii). South Marston. 20 May 1440.
Charter of Andrew Pavy alias Andrew Chipman, kinsman and heir of
Walter Burton of Bourton in the parish of Shrivenham, Berkshire, granting
with warranty to Walter Hungerford, knight, lord of Heytesbury and le
Homer, Edmund Hungerford, knight, and John Todeworth and the heirs
and assigns of Walter, all the lands, tenements, meadows, woods, pastures,
rents, reversions and services in Bourton, South Marston, Upper Stratton
and Stratton St. Margaret which descended to him by the death of Walter
Burton to hold of the chief lords of the fee. Witnesses: Robert Shotesbrok,
knight, William Darell, Robert Longe, Nicholas Wotton, John Waldyff,
Richard Warneford, Walter Morleys.

43 (f.11v, no.1-tliii). 20 May 1440.
Deed of Andrew Pavy alias Andrew Chipman appointing Thomas Sherlock
his attorney to give seisin of the premises granted above [no.42].

44 (f.11v, no.xliv). 24 May 1440.
Quitclaim with warranty of Andrew Pavy alias Andrew Chipman to Walter
Hungerford, Edmund Hungerford and John Todeworth of the premises
granted above [no.42].

[f. 12, no heading]

45 (f.12, no.xiv). Bourton. 14 Feb. 1441.
Charter of Robert Russell son and heir of William, son of John, son of
Nicholas Russell, conýrming with warranty to Walter Hungerford, knight,
lord of Heytesbury and I-lomet, Philip Courteney, knight, John Fortescu,
John Cariter, canon of Salisbury cathedral, Nicholas Asshton, Walter Bayley,
chaplain, and John Whittokesmede, all the lands, tenements, rents,
reversions and services in Bourton, South Marston, Highworth, Eastrop,
Westrop, Upper Stratton, Stratton St. Margaret and Haydon with their
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homages, formerly of John de Burghton, which they had by the grant of
Thomas de Berton, chaplain, to hold to them and the heirs and assigns of
Walter Hungerford of the chief lords of the fees. Witnesses: John Stourton
and John Baynton, knights, Richard Milburne and Thomas Bonham,
esquires, Robert Longe.

[f. 12v headed]: Marston

46 (f.12-12v, no.xlvi). 14 Feb. 1441.
Deed of Robert Russell appointing William Stirop, Richard Boket and
Thomas Fermor to give seisin of the premises granted above [no.45].

47 (f.12v, no.xlvii). 14 Feb. 1441.
Robert Russell, esquire, of Worcestershire to Walter Hungerford, knight,
bond of 100 marks payable at Easter next.

48 (f.12v, no.xlviii). 14 Feb. 1441.
The condition of the above bond is that by a ýne in the kingôs court
Robert Russell will recognise and warrant the rights of Walter Hungerford
and his co-feoffees to the premises named above [no.45].

49 (f.12v, no.xlix). 2 March 1441.
Receipt of Robert Russell, esquire, for Ã40 from Walter Hungerford,
knight, lord of Heytesbury and Homer, by the hands of John
Whittokesmede and Walter Bailly, chaplains, paid for various lands and
tenements in Wiltshire bought from him.

[f.13ð13v, no heading]

50 (ff.13-17, no.1). Westminster. 12 May 1443.
Exempliýcation by royal letters patent of the following inquisitions, proof of
age and enrolment [nos.51-5], made at the request of Walter Hungerford,
knight.

Not enrolled in the charter or patent rolls ofchancery.

51 (f.13ð13v). Norwich. 10June 1365.
Inquisition post mortem on Thomas de Sancto Omero before William de
Wychyngham and Hugh Fastolf, commissioners appointed by letters patent.
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Jurors: Hugh Munk, John Martyn, John de Brakene, Richard Vaus, Stephen
Ryghtwys, Lawrence Couper, John de Hyndryngham, Richard de
Dunston, John de Sancroft, John son of Richard de Erlham, Robert de
Griston and William Frankys, who say that Thomas de Sancto Omero died
on Saturday 10 Aug. (St. Lawrence) 1364 holding the manor and advowson
of Mulbarton in Norfolk except for a portion of the capital messuage,
containing by estimation a 4th part of 60 a. arable, 2 a. meadow, 1
windrnill, 50s. rent and various villeins with their tenements in the manor,
which portion he held by the gift of William his father to him and Parnel
his ýrst wife and the heirs of their bodies. They had issue Alice, now the
wife ofWilliam de la Hoo. The manor is held of Eve, widow ofRobert de
Benhale, by knight service, annual value without the portion 40 marks, the
portion Ã10.
He also held the manor ofBrundall in his demesne as of fee, except 1 % a.

arable and a marsh called óSire Williames medawe' comprising by estimation
3 a., of the same Eve by knight service, and the excepted premises in socage
of the lord of the manor of [blank in MS.]. It is ancient demesne of the
crown, now held by Queen Philippa, annual value Ã8.
He bought with money from William de Bukenham the manor of

Ketteringham, and 1 messuage and 1 carucate in Mulbarton, Swainsthorpe,
Kenningham and Swardeston. The holding is called Castelyns manor and is
so named in the charters by which the manor of Ketteringham and the
carucate were given to him and to William de Sancto Omero his brother
and Thomas Wayman to the effect that they could do as Thomas pleased
there. Ketteringham is held of the heir of William de la Rokele by knight
service, annual value Ã10, and the tenement called Castelyns manor of the
prior of Alnesbourn by knight service, annual value 60s.
Alice, wife ofWilliam de H00, is his daughter by Parnel his ýrst wife and

is one heir, aged 22 years and more. Elizabeth is his other daughter and heir
by his second wife and is aged 7 years and more.
Thomas Wayman occupied the manor, lands and tenements from the

death of Thomas, title unknown, until 14 April (Mon. after Easter) last, on
which day by agreement with William de Sancto Omero he made a charter
in his name and that ofWilliam of the manors of Mulbarton and Brundall
to Thomas Brodedissh and William Bretford, to what effect they do not
know. Whilst he occupied the manor Thomas Wayman carried off and sold
trees to the value of 120 marks.

[f.14 and 14v. headed]: Wilts ð Cricklade and other places

52 (ff.13vð14). Marlborough. 17Jan. (Thurs. after Hilary) 1365.
Inquisition post mortem on Thomas de Sancto Omero before Henry
Sturmy and his colleagues.1 Jurors, Robert Cooke, Simon Berwyke,
Thomas Slalyn, John Page, Matthew Chaun, Robert Palmer, Adam
Shireweld, Walter Gilbord, John Hoese, William Wishangre, John Henton
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and William Criwman, who say that Thomas held by the courtesy of
England in right of Margaret his late wife of the inheritance of Elizabeth
their daughter:
Stanton Fitzwarren, a 6th part of the manor, of the king in chief of the
Crown as a 12th part of a knightós fee, annual value 60$.
Bourton, the manor, of Queen Philippa of her manor of Sevenhampton

by knight service, annual value Ã10.
Eastrop, 1 virgate, of the rector of Edington by a rent of 6d. and 1 lb.

pepper, annual value 6s. 8d.
Wick, 1 virgate, of Ivo Fitzwaryn by knight service, amount unknown,

annual value 6s. 8d.; and 1 virgate of William Walraund by knight service,
amount unknown, annual value 6s. 8d.
Chelworth, a 3rd part ofa virgate, half a rent of 2s. 9d. and the service
of reaping and carrying the hay and corn of the lady, annual value 6s.,
held of the queen; and % carucate there of the heir of Hugh Peverell in
socage, annual value 20s.; and also of the queen a 4th part of 6 virgates in
socage, annual value 3s. 4d., and 1 mill, 30 a. meadow, % a carucate and
the advowson of the church of Cricklade, service unknown, annual value
100s
He died on 10 Aug. (St. Lawrence) last. Elizabeth the daughter and heir
of Thomas and Margaret is aged 13 years. All the above have been taken
into the queen's hands by her ministers, John Legge and John [Legge? blank
in MS] junior, and they have taken the proýts for her.
He also held the manor ofBritford but his estate in it is unknown.

1. Commission to Henry Sturmy, William de Bergh and Thomas de Hungerford, 12 Oct.
1365 (CPR 1364-7, p.205).

The above two inquisitions do not appear to have survived in the Public Record Oþice.

[ff.15, 15v, 16 and 17 headed]: Bramshaw and Bourton

53 (ff.14-15). Mulbarton. 25 May 1366.
Partition of the lands of Thomas de Sancto Omero in Norfolk between his
daughters, Alice wife of William de Hoo and Elizabeth a minor in the
king's ward, the premises being in Mulbarton, Ketteringham and Brundall.

C 135/188, no.10. Calendared CIPM xii, no.79.

54 (ff.15ð16). Mulbarton. 30 June (Wed. after Sts. Peter and Paul), 1367.
Proof of age of Elizabeth, wife of Thomas Waryn and one of the daughters
and heirs of Thomas de Sancto Omero, and daughter and heir of Margaret,
late the wife of Thomas, and wife of Thomas Waryn, before Roger de
Welberston, escheator. The jurors say that she was born at Mulbarton on 15
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Sept. (Mon. after the Nativity of the B.V.M.) 1350, and is now aged 16
years and more.

C 135/197, no.12. Calendared CIPM xii, no.185.

55 (ff.16v-17v). Salisbury. 22 Feb. 1405.
Inquisition post mortem on Elizabeth Seyntomer before John Shypton,
escheator. Jurors: Oliver Servyngton, James Gode, Richard Rede, John
Yenge, John Coof, William Duke, Roger Wodeman, William Peyracour,
John Giffard, John Heed, John Chalenere and Nicholas Heryot, who say
that long before she died Elizabeth held in her demesne as of fee 4
messuages, 1 carucate and 8 a. meadow in Stanton St. Quintin and granted
them to Thomas Hobbes and Joan his wife for the term of their lives, and
they are still living, with reversion to her own right heirs. They are held of
the king in chief by the service ofa 12th part ofa knight's fee, annual value
405. The king pardoned the grant by letters patent on 4 Feb. last.ó She died
seised of the reversion.
She held in fee tail to herself and the heirs male of her body the manors
of Bramshaw and Bourton, and 20 messuages, 1 mill, 7 carucates, 80 a.
meadow and 100s. rent in Eastrop, Cricklade, Calcutt, Down Ampney,
Moredon, South Marston, Highworth, Blunsdon St. Andrew, Stratton St.
Margaret, Haydon, Haydon Wick, Widhill, Sevenhampton, Pynchet, Great
Chelworth and Little Chelworth, and the advowson of St. Sampson,
Cricklade, and the manor of Britford except 3 messuages, 40 a. arable, 10 a.
meadow and 205. 4d. rent in Britford, by the grant of Gilbert Gaveler, clerk,
and Thomas Hobbes, with remainder in default of heirs male to Robert
More, Joan his wife, the heirs of their bodies and the right heirs of
Elizabeth, by a ýne of 3 Feb. last shown to the jurors.2
The manors of Bramshaw and Britford are held of Thomas West, knight,

by knight service. There are assize rents of Ã20 payable by equal parts at the
4 terms; 2 messuages, 2 carucates in demesne, 2 parts being sown each year,
worth Ã4, and the 3rd part nil because in a fallow ýeld; 30 a. several
meadow, each a 20d. as mowed from Lady Day to Larnmas, then nil because
common; 100 a. hill pasture, 16s. 8d.; 40 a. of great wood, nil, but pasture
there 10s.; and pleas and perquisites of court 10s. The other premises
comprise:
Bourton, the manor, held of the duke of York by knight service. There

are assize rents of 1005.; 1 carucate of which 2 parts are worth 30s. yearly,
the 3rd part nil; 20 a. meadow with herbage at 20d. the a., but after
mowing nil because common; and pleas and perquisites of court 12d.
Eastrop, 1 messuage and 20 a., held of the rector of Edington, service
unknown, annual value 5s.
Moredon, 4 messuages and % carucate, of the heir of Nicholas Mordon,

service unknown, annual value 5s.
Blunsdon St. Andrew, Stratton St. Margaret and Haydon Wick, 4

messuages and 20 a., of Ivo Fitzwaryn, service unknown, annual value 10s.
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Haydon and Widhill, 2 messuages and 30 a., ofWilliam Walrand, service
unknown, annual value 13s. 4d.
Pynchet, 1 mill, ofJohn Berkele, service unknown, annual value 12d. for

the ýshery and no more because the mill lies deserted and broken.
Great Chelworth, 1 messuage and 10 a., of Oliver Servyngton, service
unknown, annual value 8s.
Cricklade, Calcutt, Down Ampney, South Marston, Highworth,

Sevenhampton and Little Chelworth, the remainder of the premises listed
above with the advowson of Cricklade, of Edward, duke of York, service
unknown, annual value beyond the 100s. rent, 40s.
She died without heirs male on 5 Feb. last. Joan, wife of Robert More,

her daughter and next heir, is aged 32 years and more. By virtue of the ýne
the premises should remain to Robert and Joan.

C 137/50, no.34. Calendared CIPM xviii, no.1136.

1. CPR 1401-5, p.491.
2. Calendared Wilts. Fines 1377-1509, no.252.

[ff.18, 19 headed]: Cricklade

56 (f.18, no.li). Cricklade. 1 July 1425.
Indenture ofJohn Wotton, Thomas Pynet, clerks, and William Bryce
granting to Walter Hungerford, knight, lord of Homer, Master Simon
Sydenham, dean of Salisbury, Walter Pauncefot, Richard Milbourne and
Robert Longe 1 a. in Cricklade in the ýeld of Chelworth in the strip
(stadium) called óMiddelforlangeô between the lands ofJohn Baylly and John
Giffard on the east and those of Alice Baret on the west, and abutting on the
lands ofJohn Baylly and John Giffard to the north and to the south, with the
advowson of the church of St. Sampson, Cricklade, to hold to them and the
heirs and assigns of Walter of the chief lords of the fee. Witnesses: Walter
Beauchamp and Robert Shotesbroke, knights, Robert Andrewe, John Wykes.

57 (f.18, no.lii). 1July 1425.
Deed of John Wotton and Thomas Pynet, clerks, and William Brice
appointing Walter Selvvyn and Henry Brice their attorneys to give seisin of
the premises detailed above [no.56].

58 (f.18-18v, no.liii). Cricklade. 6July 1425.
Indenture of John Wotton and Thomas Pynet, clerks, and William Brice
granting to Walter de Hungerford, knight, and others as above [no.56] the
whole manor of Cricklade, except 1 a., as above, and except the advowson
of Cricklade church, to hold to them and the heirs and assigns ofWalter of
the chief lords of the fee. Witnesses: as above [no.56].
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59 (f.18v, no.liv). 6July 1425.
Deed of John Wotton and others as above [no.57] appointing the same
attorneys to give seisin of the premises detailed above [no.58].

60 (ff.18v-19). Cricklade. 8July 1425.
Quitclaim of Joan widow of Robert atte More, daughter and heir of
Richard and Elizabeth Horn, releasing to Walter Hungerford, knight, and
others 1 a. in Cricklade with the advowson. Witnesses: as above [no.56].

61 (f.19-19v, no.lvi). Cricklade. 12July 1425.
Indenture of Walter Hungerford, knight, and others as above [no.56],
granting for life with warranty to Joan, widow of Robert More and daughter
and heir of Richard and Elizabeth Horn, the whole manor of Cricklade
except 1 a., and the advowson of Cricklade church, as above [no.56].

[f.20 and 20v are blank; f.21 and f.21v headed]: Wilts ð Britford

62 (f.21). Westminster. 14 May 1375.
Exempliýcation by letters patent at the request of Thomas Waryn and
Elizabeth his wife, tenants of the manor of Britford, of a record and process
made at Salisbury concerning a claim of Elizabeth, formerly the wife of
William de Sancto Omero and lady of the manor of Britford, to certain
liberties there as follows:
Pleas of the forest of Buckholt, Clarendon, Groveley and Melchet at

Salisbury on 16 March (Mon. after St. Gregory the pope) 1355' before
Thomas de Breousa, Richard de Wylughby, William de Thorpe and John
de Inkepenne, justices itinerant. Elizabeth, formerly the wife ofWilliam de
Sancto Omero, lady of the manor of Britford, which is beside the forest of
Clarendon, claims to hold the manor with half the river Avon, which is the
boundary between the forest and the manor, as belonging to the manor,
with mills, ponds, ýsheries and all other proýts, so that she may freely ýsh
in the middle of the river without interference by the foresters or other
officers of the forest, as freely as Walter de Lacy once held the manor and
the river, and because these liberties were not claimed in the eyre before
Richard de Clifford at Wilton in 1267-8 or in the recent eyre at Salisbury
in 1330, they were taken into the king's hands; but afterwards she made ýne
in 40d. to retain them. Asked by the justices by what warrant she claimed
them she said that she and her ancestors had held them time out of mind.
On inquiry made by the officers of the forest and others it was found that
she and her predecessors were seised of these liberties and proýts.

Not enrolled in the patent rolls of Chancery.

1. Plea of Elizabeth de Sancto Omero in the forest eyre of 1355: E 32/267, m.20.
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63 (f.21ð21v). Westminster. 1July 1380.
Exempliýcation by letters patent of the above [no.62] at the request of
Richard Horn and Elizabeth his wife, formerly wife of Thomas Waryn,
now tenants of the manor of Britford.

Not enrolled in the patent rolls of chancery.

64 (ff.21vð22). Westminster. 10July 1394.
Exempliýcation by letters patent of the above [nos.53 and 62], at the
request of John Syward and Elizabeth his wife, formerly wife of Richard
Horn, now tenants of the manor ofBritford.

C 66/340, m.35. Calendared erroneously, CPR 1391-6, p.453.

65 (ff.22-25v). Westminster. 1 March 1443.
Exempliýcation by letters patent of the following ýnal concords and
acknowledgement [nos.66ð74].

Unfinished, óat request of Walter Hungerfordô, and dating clause omitted. Not enrolled in the
patent rolls qfChancery.

66 (f.22). Salisbury. Morrow ofMichaelmas 1281.
Final concord between Thomas de Sancto Omero, pl., and Parnel de Tony,
imp., by Roger le May in her place. Manor of Britford; to hold to pl. rendering
a chaplet of roses at Midsummer. Consideration 1 unmewed sparrowhawk.

CP 25/1/252/24, no.11. Calendared Wilts Fines 1272-1327, p.15.

67 (f.22v). Westminster. Quindene of Michaelmas 1373.
Final concord between Thomas Waryn and Elizabeth his wife, pl., and
William de H00, knight, and Alice his wife, def. Manors of Britford and
Bramshaw. To hold to pl., remainder to her right heirs.

Calendared VI/ilts Fines 1327-77, no.617.

68 (ff.22v-23). Westminster. Morrow of All Souls 1379.
Final concord between Richard Horn and Elizabeth his wife, pl., and
William Taillour and John Pampelon, clerks, def. Manors of Britford,
Bramshaw and Bourton, and 10 messuages, 1 mill, 5 virgates, 70 a. meadow
and 60s. rent in Eastrop, Wick, Chelworth and Cricklade with the
advowson of St. Sampson's church, Cricklade. To hold to pl.

Calendared VI/ilts Fines 1377-1509, no.19.
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69 (f.23ð23v). Westminster. Quindene of Hilary 1405.
Final concord with warranty between Thomas Hobbes and Joan his wife,
pl., and Robert More and Joan his wife, def. Three messuages, 40 a. arable
and 10 a. meadow in Britford. To hold to pl., remainder to Elizabeth
Seyntomer, widow ofJohn Syward, senior.

Calendared I/Vilts Fines 1377-1509, no.250.

70 (þ'.23vð24). Westminster. Morrow of Candlemas 1405.
Final concord between Elizabeth Seyntomer and Robert More and Joan his
wife, pl., and Gilbert Gaveler, clerk, and Thomas Hobbes, def. Manors of
Bramshaw and Bourton, and 20 messuages, 1 mill, 3 carucates, 80 a. meadow
and 100s. rent in Eastrop, Cricklade, Calcutt, Down Ampney, Moredon,
South Marston, Highworth, Blunsdon St. Andrew, Stratton St. Margaret,
Haydon Wick, Widhill, Sevenhampton, Pynchet, Great Chelworth and Little
Chelworth with the advowson of St. Sampsonós church, Cricklade, and the
manor of Britford, except 3 messuages, 40 a. arable, 10 a. meadow and 20s.
3d. rent in Britford; and 1 messuage, 2 mills, 1 carucate, 20 a. meadow, 20 a.
pasture and 30s. rent in Thatcham and Newbury, Berks. To hold to Elizabeth
and her heirs male, with successive remainders to Robert More and Joan his
wife, the heirs of their bodies and the right heirs ofElizabeth.

Calendared I/Vilts Fines 1377-1509, no.252.

71 (f.24ð24v). Westminster. Quindene ofMartinmas 1406.
Final concord with warranty between John Mountagu, William Staunton,
clerk, Robert Veel, Robert Lymburgh, Henry Herr, clerk, William Brice
and Richard Andrewe, pl., and Robert More and Joan his wife, def.
Premises as above [no.70], omitting the omissions from Britford and adding
the manor of Hinton Admiral, Hants, to hold to Richard Andrewe.

Calendared I/Vilts Fines 1377-1509, no.273.

72 (ff.24v-25). Westminster. Morrow ofMartinmas 1419.
Final concord with warranty between John Wotton, John Nagard and
Thomas Pynet, clerks, William Bryce and William Bromham, pl., and
Robert atte More and Joan his wife, def. Premises as above [no.71], remise
and quitclaim to William Bromham. Consideration 300 marks.

Calendared I/Vilts Fines 1377-1509, no.374.

73 (f.25). Westminster. Octave ofMichaelmas 1426.
Final concord between Thomas Seman and Hugh Bredfull, clerks, pl., and
John de Reynes, knight, and Alice his wife, def. Six messuages, 1 carucate,
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20 a. meadow, 60 a. pasture, 100 a. wood and 40s. rent in Warminster,
Norridge and Thoulstone. To hold to def. during their lives with remainder
to John Stafford, bishop of Bath and Wells, John Juyn, knight, Nicholas
Dixon, clerk, John Bathe, clerk, John Bamfeld, John Cork, Richard Mayn,
John Gregory, and the heirs ofJohn Juyn.

Calendared Wilts Fines 1377-1509, no.413.

74 (f.25ð25v). London. 25 April. (Tues. St. Mark) 1307.
Recognisance of Robert son of Ralph de Tony, baron of Edward I, made
before Robert [recte Ralph] de Hengham and his colleagues, justices of the
Bench, of a deed to Thomas de Sancto Omero of the manor of Britford
and Bramshaw with their appurtenances in the roll of the said late [sic] king
before the late [sic] justices and enrolled as follows:
Pleas at Westminster before R. de Hengham and his fellows, justices of

the Bench in Easter term 1307 (35 Edward I) in the roll of charters and
protections thuszl Charter of Robert, son of Ralph de Tony, king's baron,
who came into the court on 28 April (Fri. after St. Mark) and
acknowledged this charter and asked for its enrolment in these words:
To all Christian people etc. Be it known that Robert, son of Ralph de

Tony, the king's baron, impleaded Thomas de Sancto Omero in the king's
court at Westminster before Ralph de Hengham and his fellow justices by a
writ of right concerning the manors of Britford and Bramshaw, claiming
against him 1 messuage, 2 carucates, 54 a. meadow, 40 a. pasture and
Ã6 6s. 2d. rent in these places,3 [which he holds in virtue of the gift of
Parnel, great-grandmother of Robert. Now Robert, pending the plea,
releases and quitclaims all his rights in these two manors to Thomas and his
heirs and assigns. For this quitclaim Thomas has given 170 marks and done
homage. Witnesses: William de Carleton, baron of the exchequer, William
Howard, justice, Walter Paveley, John de Grymstede, Andrew de
Grymstede, John de Futon, Henry de Brandon, Peter Breton of Shropham,
Thomas de Bristowe, Simon de Hedersete, Ralph de Trows].

1. CP 40/163, charters and protections, m.1 dorse.
2. The cartulary breaks off here in the middle of a sentence; the remainder of this deed is
supplied from the enrolment in CP 40/163.

[ff.26ð8, 29v-33 are blank; f.29 headed]: Cornwall (Cornub)

75 (f.29). 12 Nov. (Morrow of Martinmas) 1432.
Charter of Edmund, bishop of Exeter, John, Lord Tiptoft and Powys,
knight, John Juyn, knight, Robert Longe, Roger Trewbody, Thomas
Cokayn, and John Lanyher, granting to Eleanor, widow ofWilliam Talbott,
knight, the manors of Trevego, Newland, Dannett, Nansough, Rillaton,
Trelion, Halvana and Trevorden in Cornwall, and Wolverstone in Devon,



22 HUNGERFORD CARTULARY

to hold to her and the heirs of her body with successive remainders over (if
she dies without such issue or attempts to discontinue the entail by
alienation of any part of the entailed land whether in fee simple or in fee
tail) to Walter Hungerford, lord of Heytesbury and Homet, and Katharine
his wife and the heirs male of their bodies, the heirs of the bodies of the
same Walter and Katharine, and the right heirs of Thomas Peverell.
Witnesses: Philip Corteneye, John Baynton and John Storton, knights, John
Paulet, John Forester, James Fleniniank, Michael Asheton, William Eliot.

[ff.34ð46 headed]: Wilts - Winterbourne Stoke

76 (f.34). 15 Nov. (Mon. after Martinmas) 1266. French
Partition of the lands of Sir Robert de Quency between Joan de Bohun and
Hawise her sister by agreement between them: Joan to hold the manors of
Winterbourne Stoke and Ware extended with all their appurtenances at
Ã131 20%d.; and Hawise to hold the manors of Wakes Colne, Stevington,
óStokeley', Bedford and Broom, extended together at Ã137 14s. 7%d. As
they have granted 100$. rent in óStokeleô to Lady Idonea Woodgate, and as
Hawise has her lands in various places Joan has agreed that this rent shall
revert to Hawise after the death of Idonea, so that Hawise will have
Ã6 12s. 10d. of lands more than Joan. Also as Eleanor, countess of
Winchester, holds a 3rd part of the manor of Stevington in dower, which
manor is in Hawiseôs portion, Joan and her heirs will pay Ã9 13s. 4d. from
the manor ofWare by equal parts at Midsummer and Michaelmas to Hawise
and her heirs until the dower has escheated. Witnesses: Henry de Lascy, Sir
Thomas de Ferrets, Sir Walter de Loudeham, Sir John Bek, Richard de
Mileton, Gregory de Hanton,John de Longchamp, Adamde Peterton.

77 (f.34-34v). Amesbury. 6 Dec. (St. Nicholas) 1292.
Charter ofJohn, son and heir of Sir Baldwin Wake, granting the manor of
Winterbourne Stoke with warranty to Hugh Wake his brother to hold to
himself and his heirs of the chief lords of the fee. Witnesses: Roger Bigod,
earl Marshal, Robert de Vet, earl of Oxford, Humphrey de Boun, earl of
Hereford, Herbert de Sancto Quintino, Hugh Payns, John Daunger,
Stephen Dreweys and Thomas de Sancto Omero, knights, Alan de
Langeford, Hugh de Wyli, Edmund Falke, Robert Bede, John de
Harlestone, Nicholas de la Sale.

78 (f.34v). Winterbourne Stoke. 24 Nov. (Sun. before St. Andrew) 1308.
Grant of Hugh, son of Baldwin Wake, that as he once gave and conýrmed
by charter to Roger de Stok, son ofWilliam de Sende, and his heirs, all that
tenement which John Lumbard once held and 10 a. arable in Winterbourne
Stoke which Henry le Longe held, and pasture for 4 oxen in the vill with
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pasture for 60 sheep with his own sheep, horn with horn, without payment
for grass, free of grazing services and folding payments, as is more fully
contained in the charter, that, with the assent ofJoan his wife, Roger shall
have the pasture for 60 sheep to him and his heirs, their sheep lying and
manuring each night without hindrance by Hugh or his heirs. Witnesses:
Adam de Paulesholte, Roger de Aula, William de Rolveston, Guy
Mercator, Robert Molendinarius, John Marescallus of Shrewton, Adam
Bartelot.

79 (ff.34v-35). York. 10 March 1312.
Writ of Roger de Wellesworth, escheator south of the Trent, to John
George, knight, his lieutenant (rector) in Wiltshire, quoting the king's writ
dated as above ordering an inquisition as to whether John Wake, recently
deceased, gave the manor of Winterbourne Stoke to Hugh Wake his
brother to hold to himself and the heirs of his body, and whether Hugh
died without heirs; and ordering that the manor be taken into the king's
hands

80 (f.35). 18 May 1312.
Inquisition post mortem on Hugh Wake before the escheator south of the
Trent. Jurors: Nicholas de Wyly, John de Langeford, William de Wyly,
Ralph ad Molendinum, Edmund Falke, Hugh Syreman, John Bykeman,
Adam Bartelot, John le Smyth, Alexander Gyffard, Alan Warde, John le
Frende, Simon de Litelcote, Richard Ripon, Robert le Boerne, John
Dalewey, Philip Cok, John Chynnok, John de Harneham, John Martyn,
Peter Wypper, John Elys and William Quynsy, who say that John Wake,
recently deceased, gave the manor of Winterbourne Stoke to his brother
Hugh Wake and his heirs. Hugh is dead. He left a son and heir called
Hugh. The manor is held in free socage of the heirs of the earl of
Winchester.

This inquisition does not survive in the P.R.O.

81 (f.35ð35v). [@1300].
Charter of Baldwin de Bello Alneto granting with warranty to Hugh Wac,
knight, lord of Winterbourne Stoke, in frank marriage with Joan his
daughter 100s. of land held in villeinage, namely 4 virgates at Bapton
(Balleborne) which William Bonevile, Walter Bonevile, Richard Bonevile
and John Russell now hold, and another, 5th, virgate at Fisherton de la
Mere (Fyssherton) which Sir William, brother of Baldwin, holds for life, to
hold to him and his heirs by Joan with his men and their offspring, and
with the issues and customary proýts in plains and woods, paths and ways,
meadow, pasture, ponds and marsh, rendering 20s. yearly to Baldwin.
Remainder to John, son of Baldwin, or to William his brother. Witnesses:
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James de la Plange, John de Grymstede and Ingram Belenger, knights, Alan
de Langeford, Thomas de Babintone, Ralph de Chaunduit, Nicholas de
Wili.

82 (f.35v). Winterbourne Stoke. 23 Nov. (Thurs. before St. Katharine)
1307.
Charter of Hugh, son of Baldwin Wake, granting with warranty to Roger
de Stock, son of William de Synde, 1 messuage with curtilage in
Winterbourne Stoke, which Juliana Laurens formerly held of him,
rendering 2s. yearly to Hugh by equal parts at Candlemas, Midsummer and
Michaelmas. For this grant Roger gave 13s. 4d. Witnesses: William de
Rolveston, Ralph de Aula, John de Harleston, Guy Mercator, Adam
Bartelot, John Ballard, Roger de Ely.

83 (f.35v). Westminster. Three weeks from Easter 1308.
Final concord between Hugh Wake and Joan his wife, pl., by Roger de
Stok in their place, and Adam de Paulesholte, def. Manor ofWinterbourne
Stoke. To hold to pl. and the heirs ofHugh. Consideration Ã100.

Calendared I/Vilts Fines 1272-1307, p.71.

84 (f.36). London. 24 May 1325 (18 Edw.II). French
Indenture witnessing that whereas Sir Hugh [V/ake] impleaded Nicholas de
Braybouk and Lady Joan Wake his wife, mother of Hugh, of the manor of
Winterbourne Stoke, it was agreed in the presence of Sir Thomas Wake,
lord of Liddel, that Hugh should consent by his deed that Nicholas and
Joan hold the manor for the life ofJoan, and that he would make no further
claim regarding the manor against Joan, and he would acknowledge this
deed in the king's court. By the agreement Nicholas and Joan have granted
to Hugh and Isabel his wife a yearly rent of 10 marks from the manor
payable by equal parts at Trinity and Michaelmas during the life of Joan,
and pledge the manor and all their goods to distraint by Hugh and Isabel.
On their part Nicholas and Joan have sworn on the gospels that when Sir
Thomas Wake brings his writ against them they will come to court and
recognise the manor to be as agreed. Further it is agreed that if Hugh does
not observe all the points and agreement, the deed of the annuity remaining
with Sir Thomas shall be given to Nicholas and Joan; and if Nicholas and
Joan should default on the annuity the said deed should be given to Hugh
and Isabel.

85 (f.36ð36v). Cottingham. 5July (Mon. after Sts. Peter and Paul) 1316.
Charter of Robert Stotevyle granting with warranty and with the assent of
Margaret his wife to Hugh Wake all his lands and tenements in Cottingham
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and Hessle in Yorkshire with Isabel his daughter in frank marriage to_ hold
of the chief lords of the fee. Witnesses: Thomas Wake, lord of Liddel,
Robert Counstable, Thomas Mounceaux, Henry Pycot.

86 (f.36v). Winterbourne Stoke. 27 Feb. (Thurs. after St. Peter in
Cathedra) 1326.
Charter of Hugh Wake, knight, son and heir of Hugh Wake of
Winterbourne Stoke, granting with warranty to Robert le Prymer of
Homanton and Alice his wife the messuage with curtilage, virgate,
meadow, feedings and pasture in Winterbourne Stoke, which they have by
the grant of Nicholas Braybroke, to hold for the term of their lives with
other premises already granted, rendering the services due to Hugh and his
heirs after the death ofJoan his mother, as stated in the former deed;
remainder to John, son of Robert, for his life, or to Edith his sister if he
predeceases them for her life. For a certain sum now paid to Hugh the
service is remitted. Witnesses: Nicholas de Rolveston, John de Lytlecote,
Alexander Giffard, Robert atte Halle, William Quintyn, Roger de Stocke,
John Hamelyn, William Richard.

87 (f.36v-37). [Feb. 1326].
Quitclaim with warranty of Hugh Wake (as in no.86) to Robert Prymer of
Homanton, Alice his wife and John their son, of all the rights which he will
have by the death ofJoan his mother in 1 messuage with curtilage, 1
virgate, pasture for 4 draught animals in the common pasture free of
herbage, and pasture for 61 sheep in Hyde óleseô free of agistment, and for 6
pigs in the common pasture free of pannage, with all appurtenances in
Winterbourne Stoke which John le Boye once held in villeinage, to hold to
them for their lives after the death of Joan rendering 10s. yearly, 3s. 4d. at
each of Candlemas, Midsummer and Michaelmas. For this quitclaim
Robert, Alice and John have given Ã11. Witnesses: (as in no.86).

88 (f.37). Cottingham. 3July (Thurs. after Sts. Peter and Paul) 1337 (11 Edw.III).1
Charter ofRobert Scotevyle [sic] granting with warranty in frank marriage to
Hugh Wake and Isabel his wife, Robertôs daughter, all his lands and
tenements in Cottingham and Hessle in Yorkshire, to hold to them and the
heirs and assigns of Hugh. Witnesses: Hugh de Audele, earl of Gloucester,
Thomas Wake, lord ofLiddel, Henry Pycot, John Takell, Arnold Soudewale.

1. Sic, no.102 below.

89 (ff.37v-42). Westminster. 26 Feb. 1355.
Exempliýcation by letters patent of Edward III at the request of Thomas Wake
of a record and process before the barons of the exchequer and in chancery:
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Pleas before the barons of the exchequer at Westminster in the quindene
of Midsummer 1353 (27 Edw.III), Wilts.ó Memorandum that it was found
in the ortginalia of the king's 3rd year (1329)?! that on 19 June in that year
the king granted by letters patent to John Mautravers, then steward of his
household, the wardship of the lands and tenements of Hugh Wake who
held in chief, which were in the king's hands, to hold during the minority
of the heir rendering yearly to the king Ã27 12s. 10d., at which sum the
premises were extended by Simon de Bereford, then escheator south of the
Trent,3 half to be paid at the Easter exchequer and half at Michaelmas. This
farm ofÃ27 12s. 10d. is now required of him with Ã55 5s. 8d. arrears from
the king's 25th and 26th years as is shown in the great roll for the 26th year
under óWiltes'.4 Similarly the great roll for the 25th year under óSomers,
Dorsó shows Ã546 13s. 1d. in arrears offarm.5

9":"'P-'!\ô.ñó l'lóll'lólg'*l'lóll'lól

13/78, mm.120-1.
371/88, no.ix, dated Eltham, 29 June [sic].
e below, no.97.
372/197, m.Wyltes.
372/ 1 96.

90 John Mautravers came before the barons on 11 June this year by John
Londy his attorney and claimed that he was unjustly charged with the farm
and arrears because Thomas Wake entered the manor of Winterbourne
Stoke on 1 Feb. 1331 (5th year) and now holds it, having taken the proýts
since that day, he John being unable to receive anything from the manor.
He asks that Thomas should come to answer for the farm and the arrears.
The sheriff was ordered to have Thomas there to answer on the morrow of
Nlidsummer. John Mautravers was surnmoned and his attorney was present
on that day. The sheriff reported that Thomas was mainperned and he did
not come. Another day, the quindene of Midsummer was given. That day
John came by his attorney and said as before. Thomas came in his own
person. He claimed that he did not owe the farm or arrears because Hugh
Wake and Joan his wife were jointly seised of the manor in fee tail. After
the death of Hugh, Joan held it for her life. Then at the suggestion ofJohn
Mautravers to the king that the manor was held [f.38] in chief by Hugh's
heir, a minor, Simon de Bereford, then escheator south of the Trent, was
ordered to inquire.

91 It was found by his inquisitionl that the manor was held of the king in chief,
and that Thomas son of Hugh, son of Hugh (both Hughs having died during
the lifetime ofJoan), was heir and under age, wherefore Simon took it into the
king's hands. On 19 June 1329 the king committed it with other lands to John
Mautravers to hold during the niinority at the above-narned farrn.
Afterwards at the parliament of 1330 at Westrninster Robert Stotevil,
uncle of the heir, petitionedz against John Mautravers, suggesting that Hugh
and Joan held no lands of the king in chief, but that they held the manor of
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Winterbourne Stoke jointly to themselves and their heirs in socage of
Maud, widow of Robert Holand, as her portion of the inheritance of the
earl of Winchester3 by fealty and the rent of a rose. The petition, endorsed
and returned to the chancery, was sent to the treasurer and barons of the
exchequer to determine whether or not the manor was held of the king in
chief. William Trussel, escheator south of the Trent, was ordered to inquire.

1. See below, no.97.
2. Not found in Rot.Parl. or in P.R.O., Ancient Petitions.
3. She was daughter and heir of Helen wife of Alan la Zouche, one of3 daughters and co-
heirs of Roger de Quincy, earl of Winchester (d.1264); G.E.C. Complete Peerage under
Winchester, Roger, Earl, note 1.

92 His inquisitionó found that Hugh and Joan held no lands in chief but the
manor as abovesaid ofMaud as her portion, by fealty and a rose at Midsummer.
This inquisition was returned to the chancery, and on 1 Feb. 1331 William
Trussel was ordered to interfere no more with the manor. Then Robert
Stotevil as next friend of the heir entered and held it until the 20th year of the
heir namely the 21st2 year of the king (1347). In that year Thomas the heir
entered and has held it until the present. As to whether he entered against the
king's right of seisin, whether the manor was held of the king in chief and
whether he owes the farm and arrears John now seeks judgment. Thomas was
then asked whether he had evidences to show. He said not at present and asked
for a day to be appointed that he might bring them. The quindene of
Michaelmas was named. On that day the parties came but Thomas produced
no evidence. John Mautravers and the kingôs seijeants asked for a judgment.

1. See below, no.99.
2. Blank in E 13/78.

93 (f.38v). William de Edyngton treasurer, Master John de Thoresby,
chancellor, William de Shareshull, John de Stonore and other judges of
both benches ordered that Thomas Wake should account for the issues of
Winterbourne Stoke from 1 Feb. 1331 to date in exoneration of John
Mautravers. Since the manor was released from the kingôs hands by an
inquisition taken ex Qþicio [sic] it should be resumed into the kingôs hands.
Thomas should account by the quindene of Martinmas.
Before that on 14 November Thomas came and sought a day to account
from 1 Feb. 1331 to Michaelmas 1353. John Brocas, knight, of Surrey, and
William Trussell, knight, of Northamptonshire, mainperned for his
appearance on the quindene of Hilary to account for the issues of the
manor duing that time if they rightly belonged to the king. As to taking it
into the kingôs hands let no further action be taken as is ordered in the Lord
Treasurer's memoranda roll for the 28th year (1354-5) amongst the
commissiones of Michaelmas term.1

1. E 368/126, commissiones [m.2d].
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94 (f.38v). Thomas came on the appointed day bringing a writ of the great
seal which is enrolled in the communia ofHilary term in the 28th year.ó
Writ to the treasurer and barons of the exchequer ordering the postponement
of any action on the manor of Winterbourne Stoke until the quindene of
Michaelmas and the release ofany distraint made, Westminster, 18Jan. 1354.
Thomas was given until the quindene of Michaelmas to account. He did
not come. The sheriff was ordered to distrain. He was then given the
quindene of Martinmas, before which date a writ of the great seal dated 182
October 1354 (27th year) was issued and enrolled in the communia of
Michaelmas term in the 29th year.3
Writ to the treasurer and barons of the exchequer. As a plea is pending

between the king and Thomas Wake, knight, as to whether the manor of
Winterbourne Stoke is held in chief or not, [f.39] and is being judged, as
Thomas de Seton, a justice of [Common] Pleas, testiýes, order to suspend
actions against Thomas until the quindene of Easter and release any
distraint, Westminster 26 October 1354. The account was therefore respited
until the quindene ofEaster.

1. E 159/130, brevia baronibus, Hil. m.3.
2. Dates sic.
3. E 159/131, brevia baronibus, Mic. m.13.

95 (f.39). Before that in the octave of Candlemas another writ, which is
enrolled in the communia ofHilary term in the 29th yearl was issued:
The king to the treasurer and barons of the exchequer, Westminster, 1 Feb.

1355, reciting the cause of Thomas Wake, heir of Hugh, as contained in his
petition shown before the council. He alleged that after the death of Hugh,
by virtue of an inquisition by Simon de Bereford, escheator south of the
Trent, the manor of Winterbourne Stoke was taken into the kingôs hands as
being held in chief by the service of a 3rd part of a knight's fee, and that it
was then granted to John Mautravers, knight, to hold by a yearly farm until
the full age of the heir. But he claimed that it was not held in chief but in
socage by fealty and a rent of a rose of Maud Holand as appeared by another
inquisition held by William Trussel. Thomas was summoned before the
treasurer and barons to account for the issues of the manor from the death of
Hugh because of the former inquisition and by a process in the exchequer,
and he was distrained for them. Now he asks to be exonerated. The king
wishing that justice be done between Thomas and himself has ordered
William de Shareshull and his fellow justices by a writ under his half seal to
examine the commission, inquisitions, petition and documents in the case,
and to summonJohn Mautravers and the king's seijeants and others who may
have evidence and ensure that justice be done according to the law and
custom of the kingdom. It being found that the manor of Winterbourne
Stoke is not held of the king but of Maud Holand, as above, order to allow
the claim ofThomas and exonerate him of the charges at the exchequer.

1. E 159/131, brevia baronibus, Hil., m.6.
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96 (f.39v). The text of the record and process outlined in the writ is as
follows:
Pleas coram rege at Westminster, Hilary term 28 Edward IIIó (1354) in

rotulo vii, Wiltes:
Tower of London. 20 Jan. 1354 (27 Edw.III). The king ordered William

de Shareshull and his fellow judges to pronounce judgment, submitting the
following documents, nos.97 to 101.

1. KB 27/374.

97 (f.39v). Canterbury. 20 June 1329. Writ of diem clausit extremum for
Joan, who was the wife of Hugh Wake, to Simon de Bereford, escheator
south of the Trent.
Wilton. 15 July 1329. Inquisition post mortem on Joan widow of Hugh

Wake.l Simon de Bereford, escheator. Nicholas de Rolvestone, John Pycot,
Ralph atte Mulle, William Richard, Richard de Langeford, Alexander
Giffard, John [f.40] de Kyngesmull, William Savage, John Regate, William
de Colyngburne, John atte Watere and John Lyngyner, jurors, who say that
she held the manor of Winterbourne Stoke for life jointly with Hugh by a
ýne of 1308.3 It is held of the king in chief as a 3rd part ofa knightôs fee.
There are: 1 capital messuage with garden and dovecot, annual value 6s. 8d.;
403 a. arable at 4d., Ã6 14s. 4d.; 10 a. meadow at 2s., 20s.; pasture for 400
sheep, 33s. 4d.; several pasture for oxen, 6s. 8d.; rents of Ã12 2s. 6d. payable
by equal parts at Candlemas, Midsummer and Michaelmas; services from
Lammas to Michaelmas, 40s. 6d.; tallage at Martinmas, 20s.; pleas and
perquisites of court, 13s. 4d.; total Ã30 17s. 4d. Of this sum the prioress of
Amesbury takes 64s. 6d. by equal parts at the above 3 terms.
She also held for life in joint feoffment in frank marriage 100s. rent in

Bapton (Babeton) and Fisherton de la Mere payable by equal parts at the
Conception, Annunciation and Assumption, held of the heir of Peter de la
Stane.
Thomas Wake, heir of Hugh, has the reversion of both the manor and

the rent and is aged 2 years.

1. Calendared CIPM vii, no.228.
2. Calendared l/Vilts Fines 1272-1327, p.71.

98 (f.40) Letters patent by which the king granted the keeping of the lands
and tenements to John Mautravers, steward of his household:
Eltham, 29 June 1329. Grant to hold the manor of Winterbourne Stoke
during the minority of the heir rendering by equal parts at Easter and
Michaelmas yearly Ã27 12s. 10d. at which sum the manor was extended by
Simon de Bereford, then escheator south of the Trent.l

1. The grant (19June in no.91, 29 June in no.98) appears to predate the inquisition (15 July)
at which the valuation was made.



30 HUNGERFORD CARTULARY

99 (f.40v). Westminster. 20 Jan. 1331. Writ, die quo obiit, for Joan, widow of
Hugh Wake, to William Trussel, escheator south of the Trent.
[1330ð31]. Memorandum of Simon de Bereford, formerly escheator

south of the Trent, concerning the manor of Winterbourne Stoke: by
searching the memoranda of the time of Simon de Bereford, formerly
escheator, it is found that he by inquisition in July of the 3rd year (1329)
returned that the manor was held of the king in chief by the service of a 3rd
part of a knightós fee, as a result of which the king granted the manor to
John Mautravers to hold until the full age of the heir of Hugh Wake, and by
the forfeiture ofJohn Mautravers the manor is in the kingós handsþ
Salisbury. 31 Jan. (Wed. before Candlemas) 1331. Inquisition on Joan,
widow of Hugh Wake? William Trussel, escheator. Simon de Wyly,
William Quyntyn, Henry Richard, John de Litlecote, William de
Shireveton, William Bartelot, Thomas Pycot, Simon Burell, John
Brademere, William Richard, Walter Parfayte, John le Frye and Adam le
Hordere, jurors, who say that she held the manor ofWinterbourne Stoke of
Maud, late the wife of Robert de Holand, as of her part of the inheritance
of the earl of Winchester, in socage by fealty and a rose yearly at
Midsummer. The manor comprises: 1 capital messuage with garden and
close, annual value 5s.; 1 dovecot, 6s. 8d.; 1 waterrnill and ýshery, 10s.;
300 a. arable of which 100 at 3d., 100 at 2d., and 100 at 1d.; 20 a. meadow
at 2s.; pasture and pannage for draught animals, Ã10; 4 free tenants
rendering together 71s.; 15 villeins each holding 1 virgate, each 7s. 8d.; 12
villeins with % virgate, each 4s. 2d.; [f.41] 6 cottars each rendering 18d.; all
rendering these sums for their rents and boon works by equal parts at
Candlemas, Midsummer and Michaelmas; and pleas and perquisites of
courts 40s. Total for manor Ã32 4s. 8d. [recte Ã29 16s. 8d.].
She also held 5 virgates in Bapton and Fisherton de la Mere of Hugh

Poyntz by the service of making a hedge round his park at Stockwood in
Dorset, annual value, each virgate 20s, total 100s.
Thomas son ofHugh is her heir, aged 4 years.

1. Both John Mautravers and Simon de Bereford, the escheator upon whose findings his
grant depended, were condemned to death in the parliament of 1330, but Mautravers
escaped, (Rot.Parl. ii, p.23), and was later pardoned.
2. C 135/25, no.13; calendared CIPM viii, no.313.

100 (f.41). 30 Jan. 1330. Writ of certiorari to the treasurer and barons of the
exchequer to search the book of fees called Domesday and other
memoranda of the exchequer to ascertain of whom the manor of
Winterbourne Stoke is held and by what service.

Transcript as follows: Wiltes. Terra Edwardi Sarisbó in libro de Domysday. Idem Edwardus
tenet in Winterbornestokej hidó et dimidó et Walterus tenet de eo. Terra estj acró quo ibi
est. Valet xxxs. Idem Edwardus tenet in eadem villaj hidó terraj acró. Walterus tenet de
Edwardo. Idem habetj acró cum ij cottaró etj acró prati et vj acró pasturó. Valet xxs. Aluuius
tenuit T.R.E. Cuius uxor ibidem tenuit hidó dimidó de rege}
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Another royal writ: Kingós Langley. 1 Feb. 1331. To William Trussel
reciting the inquisition and ordering release of the manor.

1. Domesday Book, f.69b. There are small differences from the original text.

101 (f.41). Petition of Thomas Wake [1354ð55]. ó French
To the king. Thomas Wake prays to be discharged of the revenues of the
manor of Winterborne Stoke, held of Maud, widow of Robert de Holand,
which manor descended to him after the death of Hugh Wake, his father,
when he was under age. Then the escheator entered the manor and held an
inquisition which found that it was held of the king. Afterwards at the suit
of Isabel, widow of Hugh Wake, for the wardship as being of premises held
in socage of others than the king she had a writ to enter the manor. Then
the barons of the exchequer intervened and ordered that the revenues of the
manor be collected from him, Thomas, in virtue of the former inquisition.
Now he asks that the chancellor be commanded to cause inquiry to be
made [f.41v] into the truth of the case and that he be discharged of the
revenues because the manor is held in socage of others than the king.
The petition was endorsed: let the inquisitions be sent to the kingós

bench and be summoned there Sir John Mautravers, to whom the manor
was granted, the kingós seijeants and others to relate both sides.
The sheriff ofWiltshire was ordered to have Sir John Mautravers there on

the quindene of Easter. He came in person as did also Sir Thomas Wake.
John Mautravers said that the king had taken the manor into his hands
owing to the minority of Hugh Wakeós heir, and granted him, John, the
wardship to hold at a certain rent until the full age of the heir. He held for
1% years. Then it was taken from him at the kingós command, about which
he had no further information. Thomas said that the manor was held in
socage as found by the inquisition before William Trussel. Simon de
Kelworth who sued for the king said that it was held of the king in chief as
a 3rd part of a knightós fee as found by Simon de Bereford.
The hearing was adjourned to the quindene of Trinity and then to the

octave of Hilary in the 29th year, when Thomas Wake came in person as did
the king's setjeants and the jurors: Walter Skydmore, knight, Richard de
Vernoun, Robert de Remesbury, John Harnham, Nicholas Bonham, Robert
Gilberd, Walter de Combe, Thomas Trenchard, Robert Balle, John Waspaill,
William Caneford and William Harnham. Being sworn they found that the
manor was not held of the king but ofMaud widow ofRobert Holand as her
part of her inheritance.ó Thomas should be exonerated at the exchequer?
This record and process is exempliýed at the request of Thomas Wake by

letters patent. Westminster. 26 Feb. 1355 [f.42].
Memorandum that the record and process which the letters [patent] mention

are in the ýles of the chancery for the above year, and not otherwise enrolled.

1. m.122 ofE 13/78 ends here.
2. The remainder concerning John Mautravers is omitted ý'om the Cartulary and ý'om KB
27/374. See above, nos.89-93, 95, 98-9.
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F0? (f.42). Cottingham. 3 July (Thurs. after Sts. Peter and Paul 8 Edw.II)
sic , 1315.ó
Charter of Robert Stotevyll granting with warranty to Hugh Wake in frank
marriage with Isabel his daughter all his lands, tenements, rents and services
in Cottingham and Hessle in Yorkshire, to hold to them and his heirs and
assigns. Witnesses: Hugh Audele, earl of Gloucester, Thomas Wake, lord of
Liddel, Henry Picot, John Takel, Arnold Sourdewale.

1. Apart ýom the date and slight variations in the wording this charter duplicates no.88 (dated
3 July 1337) above. Both dates are impossible as given, and the fact that both are dated óThurs.
after Sts. Peter and Pauló though in different years is itself suspicious. The date of no.102 is
probably correct if the list of witnesses is removed; Hugh Audley was not created earl of
Gloucester until 1337, and Thomas Wake, lord of Liddel, was a minor in 1315. The witnesses
are compatible with the later date, but Hugh Wake died before 1329 no.91 above).

103 (f.42). Cottingham. 2 Oct. (Sun. after Michaelmas) 1345.
Indenture of agreement between Robert Stotevyll and his sister Isabel Wake.
Whereas Robert has held all the lands and tenements of Thomas Wake,
Isabel's son, in Winterbourne Stoke for 19 years with all proýts arising from
them, and those lands and tenements are worth 124 marks yearly net as was
often reckoned between them during that period, and an action was brought
against Robert by Isabel alleging that he had refused to satisfy Thomas for
those proýts during that time but he had resisted the claim on the grounds
that she had seisin of the lands and that the issues had been expended for the
beneýt of the said Robert (recte Thomas); now Robert, in the light of the
anger of Isabel and her allegation that he had wronged her son Thomas with
regard to this property, and wishing to reestablish peace and concord and put
an end to litigation between them, in lieu of satisfaction and restitution of the
said property, grants Thomas an annual rent of Ã100 as is more fully set out
in a deed to Thomas. Sealed in the presence of Hugh Audley, earl of
Gloucester, Thomas Wake, lord of Liddel, Henry Lancastre, earl of Derby.

104 (f.42ð42v). Winterbourne Stoke. 17July (Mon. before St. Margaret) 1374.
Charter of Thomas Wake, knight, granting with warranty to Ralph Paynell,
John Paynell and John de la Mare, knights, Thomas de Erlestoke, chaplain,
John Nywemarche, Thomas Hungerford, Nicholas de Bonham, John de
Leye and Robert de Staunton, the manor of Winterbourne Stoke with all
lands, tenements, rents, reliefs, heriots, escheats and serfs in the vills of
Fisherton de la Mere, Bapton and Bourton. Witnesses: Robert de la Mare,
Peter Escudemore, Philip Fitzwaryn and Thomas Florak, knights, Oliver
Harnham, John Knottyngle, William Harleston.

105 (f.42v). Old Temple, London. 16 Feb. 1380 (1379, 17th year of episcopate).
John, bishop of Lincoln, to the archdeacon of Lincoln and all the clergy of
the archdeaconry, on behalf of Thomas Wake, knight, of Winterbourne
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Stoke. He learns that certain sons of iniquity whose names are unknown
have carried off, hidden and detained charters, letters and muniments of
Thomasós inheritance in Thorpe Hall, Caythorpe and Cottingham, and are
now concealing them to their grave danger and the loss of Thomas and a
pernicious example to others. Order to all and each of the clergy to warn
the evildoers. According to the canonical rule he gives 15 days from their
ýrst warning, 5 for the ýrst, 5 for the second and 5 for the third and ýnal
warning. They must return the muniments or otherwise give satisfaction
within this time under pain of the greater excommunication. Failing that,
the clergy are ordered to denounce the thieves and concealers of the
muniments in their churches on feast days when there is the greatest
gathering of people and publicly to pronounce the excommunication.

106 (f.43). Winterbourne Stoke. 1July 1384.
Charter of Thomas Wake of Winterbourne Stoke, knight, granting with
warranty to Robert, bishop of London, Nicholas Bonham and John
Chitterne, clerk, the manor of Winterbourne Stoke with all his lands and
tenements in Bapton and Fisherton de la Mere in Wiltshire and in Thorpe
Hall in Lindsey, Lincolnshire, with all rents, services and reversions.
Witnesses: John de Lovell, Thomas de Hungerford and Philip Fitzwaryn,
knights, Nicholas Baynton, William Sturmy.
Enrolled in the close [roll] of chancery in July of the above year.

C 54/225, m.47d. Calendared CCR 1381-5, p.565.

107 (f. 43). Winterbourne Stoke. 18July (morrow of St. Kenelm) 1384.
French

Indenture between Robert, bishop of London, Nicholas Bonham and John
Chitterne, clerk, of one part, and Thomas Wake, knight, of the other. As
Thomas Wake has granted the manor of Winterbourne Stoke and other
premises [as in no.106 with the addition of Bourton to Bapton and
Fisherton] in the enrolled charter without conditions, and since he is going
overseas, the bishop and his co-feoffees undertake to regrant the same to
him on his return with all proýts etc. If he does not return they will grant
all the proýts for the 3 years following his death to Margaret his daughter in
support of her marriage. They will grant the proýts for the term of 3 years
from Bapton, Fisherton and Bourton to Thomas his son and heir, and if
Thomas the son and Margaret die without heirs, the feoffees will sell all the
premises as best they can and give the proceeds for prayers for the soul of
Thomas. Witnesses as above [no.106].

108 (f. 43v). Winterbourne Stoke. 12 Feb. 1399.
Charter of Thomas son and heir of Thomas Wake, knight, granting with
warranty to Thomas Romsey, Thomas Bonham and John Piperwhite the
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manor of Winterbourne Stoke and all his lands and tenements in Bapton.
Witnesses: John de Roches and Robert Corbet, knights, Nicholas Wodhull,
William Dangens, John Cnottynglegh, Richard Frome, William Harleston.

109 (f.43v). Winterbourne Stoke. 14 April (Mon. Sts. Tiburtius and
Valerian) 1399.
Charter of Thomas Romeseye, Thomas Bonham and John Pyperwhyte
granting to Thomas, son and heir of Thomas Wake, knight, and Elizabeth
his wife, the manor of Winterbourne Stoke, which they had by his gift, to
hold to them and the heirs of their bodies with remainder to his right heirs.
Witnesses: John de Roches and Robert Corbet, knights, Nicholas Wodhull,
William Dangens, John Cnottynglegh, John Skyllyng, William Harleston,
William Upton.

110 (ff.43vð44). Winterbourne Stoke. 24 July 1400.
Charter of Thomas, son and heir of Thomas Wake, knight, granting with
warranty to William Knotte and John Sculle, clerks, all his lands and
tenements in Fisherton de la Mere and Bapton. Witnesses as above
[no. 108] .

111 (f.44). Winterbourne Stoke. 6 Jan. 1415.
Quitclaim of Thomas Bonham to Elizabeth, widow of Thomas, son and
heir of Thomas Wake, knight, of the manor of Winterbourne Stoke, to
hold to her, the heirs of her body by Thomas, and his right heirs.
Witnesses: Henry Popham, William Daungens, Henry Thorp, John
Wytheford, John Lambard.

112 (f.44-44v). Halnaker. 20 Feb. 1416. French
Deed of Thomas Ponynges, Lord Seynt Johan. As the manor of
Winterbourne Stoke with a yearly rent of 100s. from Bapton and Fisherton
de la Mere should descend to him and his heirs, he has appointed his son
Hugh Seynt Johan, knight, his attorney to pursue their inheritance
according to the law, having granted the remainder, if it can be won, to
Hugh to hold to himself, Eleanor his wife and his heirs and assigns. As a
guarantee he has also granted them a yearly rent of 100 marks from the
manors of Basing and Bramley in Hampshire, payable by equal parts at the 4
principal terms. As surety for the rent he has given Hugh and Eleanor 20s.
as seisin, and if the rent be in arrears by one month they may distrain on
those manors. When they have recovered the manor and rent, releasing to
him their rights in the manor of Barnham in Sussex for the term of his life
with reversion to Hugh, then the rent of 100 marks will be void and of no
effect. Witnesses: John Boghun and John Brewes, knights, Richard Stucle,
esquire, Robert Inglez, William Becke.
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113 (ff.44v-45). Basing. 1 Oct. 1416. French
Deed of Thomas Ponynges, knight, Lord Seynt Johan, granting to Hugh
Seynt Johan, his son and heir, and Eleanor his wife the reversion of the
manor of Winterbourne Stoke, which should descend to him by right of
inheritance after the death of Elizabeth, widow of Thomas Wake and now
wife of Thomas Tyrewyne, who holds for life by jointure, to hold to them
and the heirs of the body of Hugh with remainder to himself and his right
heirs. Witnesses: John Dabryscourt, knight, William Brocas, William
Warbeston, Richard Delamar and Bernard Brocas, esquires.

114 (f.45). 1 April 1427.
Charter of Elizabeth, widow of Thomas Wake, son and heir of Thomas
Wake, knight; as Thomas Romeseye, Thomas Bonham and John
Piperwhite held the manor of Winterbourne Stoke by the gift of Thomas
Wake, and granted it to Thomas and Elizabeth then his wife and the heirs
of their bodies, so that they held it until he died without heirs by Elizabeth,
the remainder after the death of Elizabeth was to Thomas Seynt Johan,
knight, and he granted it by charter to Hugh Seynt Johan, his son, now she,
Elizabeth conýrms this settlement. Witnesses: William Westbury, Robert
Longe, John Westbury, Robert Asshelegh, Richard Mayne.

115 (f.45ð45v). Westminster. Quindene ofEaster 1427.
Final concord between Walter Hungerford, knight, John Typtot, knight, Simon
Sydenham, clerk, William Darell, Richard Milbourne and Robert Longe, pl.,
and Hugh Seynt Johan, knight, def. Quitclaim with warranty to Walter and his
heirs of the manor ofWinterbourne Stoke. Consideration 100 marks.

Calendared Wilts Fines 1377-1509, no.418.

116 (f.45v). Westminster. One month from Easter 1427.
Final concord, parties as above [no.115] with the addition of óand Eleanor
his wifeó after Hugh Seynt Johan. Quitclaim as above [no.115], warranty
against Richard [Harwedon], abbot ofWestminster, and his successors.

Calendared ibid., no.420.

117 (ff.45vð46). Winterbourne Stoke. 25 Nov. (St. Katharine) 1429.
Walter Hungerford, knight, lord of Heytesbury and Homet, to John Typtot,
knight, lord of Powys, Simon Sydenham, clerk, William Darell, Richard
Milburn and Robert Longe, their heirs and assigns, quitclaim with warranty
of the manor of Winterbourne Stoke. Witnesses: William, Lord Botreaux,
Humphrey Stafford, Stephen Poppeham and Edmund Cheyne, knights,
John de Paulet, John Beynton and Walter Pauncefote, esquires.
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118 (f.46). Winterbourne Stoke. 6 Dec. (St. Nicholas) 1429.
Charter of John Typtoft, knight, lord of Powys, Simon Sydenham, clerk,
William Darell, Richard Milburn and Robert Longe granting to Walter
Hungerford, knight, lord of Heytesbury and Homer, Philip Courtenay,
knight, John Juyn, knight, John Stourton, John Paulet, John Baynton and
John Carter, clerk, the reversion of the manor of Winterbourne Stoke,
which Elizabeth, widow of John Hamelyn, knight, holds for life with
reversion to them, to hold during the life of Walter with remainder to the
heirs male of his body and his right heirs. Witnesses: William, Lord
Botreaux, Humphrey Stafford, Stephen Poppeham and Edmund Cheyne,
knights, and John Fortescue.

[f.46v is blank; f.47 headed]: Note of lands and tenements in the parish of St.
Martin in the Fields. [ff.48-58 have no headings].

119 (f.47, no.i). Charing in Westminster. 15 July. (Translation of St.
Swithun) 1342.
Charter of Hugh called de Lancastre of Newport Pagnell and Denise his
wife granting with warranty to Richard Smyth of Gilmorton, chaplain, all
the rents, lands and tenements in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields
which he holds by the grant of Nicholas Crane, late citizen and merchant
of London, lying in Westminster in the place (vicus) called Charing,
Middlesex. Witnesses: Richard Nottele, Stephen, son of Thomas Chese of
Charing, Robert de la Chapele, John de Hendon, John Tylere, Richard
Fraunceys, John de Guldeforde.

120 (f.47, no.ii). Westminster. 11 May 1349.
Charter ofJohn de Kerseye, perpetual vicar of the church of St. Martin in
the Fields, granting with warranty to Robert Aleyn of Hambleden and Joan
his wife all his lands, tenements and rents in Westminster, Knightsbridge
and Ebury in Middlesex, in the parishes of St. Martin in the Fields and St.
Margaret by Westminster. Witnesses: William Yppegrave, goldsmith,
Richard de Nutteley, Stephen Chese, John Flekeney, Adam de Wynton,
clerk.

121 (f.47ð47v, no.iii). St. Martin in the Fields. 7 Feb. (Thurs. after
Candlemas) 1348.
Quitclaim with warranty of Helen, widow of Richard de Bermyngham, late
citizen and fruiterer of London, in pure widowhood, to Robert de la Chapele
of Charing of all her rights in the tenement with buildings and garden formerly
held by Richard in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields, Westminster.
Witnesses: Richard de Notteleye, Stephen Chese, Robert at Noke, William de
Bradele, William Broun, Roger de Corseyour, Ralph the Clerk.
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122 (f.47, no.iv). Charing. 18 Oct. (Fri. St. Luke) 1349.
Charter of Robert Aleyn and Joan his wife, daughter and heir of Robert
atte Chapel, granting with the assent of his heir and with warranty to
Thomas de Duffeld and Joan his wife all that tenement with the houses
built on it at Charing in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields,
Middlesex, which lies in breadth between the tenement formerly of
Richard de Nottele to the east and the tenement which William de
Yppegrave holds of the heir of Robert atte Noke to the west, and in
length from the kingós highway to the north to the holding of William
de Ypegrave to the south. Witnesses: William de Ypegrave, Richard
Rook, junior, Richard Rooke, senior, Nicholas Heston, Reynold
Baker, John de Padyngton, Nicholas de Pelham, Philip atte Neyt, Philip
de Plumptre, Peter Bocher, Henry de Leyke, Stephen Chese, John
Pontefract, clerk.

123 (ff.47vð48, no.v). Westminster. 22 Nov. (Eve of St. Clement) 1361.
Charter of Joan, widow of Thomas Duffeld, granting with warranty to
Richard, chaplain of Newport Pagnell, all her lands and tenements in
Westminster and Knightsbridge. Witnesses: Richard Rook, senior, Richard
Rook, junior, Peter Bocher, Robert Hakebourne, Roger de Sudbury.

124 (f.48, no.vi). Westminster. 25 Nov. (Thurs. St. Katharine) 1361.
Charter of Richard, chaplain of Newport Pagnell, granting with warranty
to Simon Pauly of West Perry and Joan his wife all his lands and tenements
in Westminster, Charing and Knightsbridge. Witnesses: Richard Rook,
senior, Richard Rook, junior, Peter Bocher, Robert Hakebourne, Roger
de Sudbury, William Brouge, Thomas de Upton.

125 (f.48, no.vii). Westminster. 17 Feb. 1367.
Charter of Thomas, son of Richard White of Dublin, and Joan his wife
granting with warranty to John Trigg and William Turk, citizens and
fishmongers of London, all their lands and tenements in Ebury and
Knightsbridge in Middlesex and also the messuage in Westminster situated
in the road called Charing formerly of Robert atte Chapel. Witnesses:
Richard Rook, senior, Richard Rook, junior, Robert de Hakebourne,
Roger de Sudbury, John Lorymer, John Croucher, John Pykard, Philip de
Plumptre, junior.

126 (f.48v, no.viii). Westminster. 6July 1367.
Charter of John Trigg and William Turk, citizens and ýshmongers of
London, granting with warranty to Thomas Trillow the premises which
they have by the grant of Thomas White, as above [no.125]. Witnesses as
above [no.125] omitting Philip de Plumptre.
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127 (f.48v, no.ix). Charing. 18 Aug. 1380.
Charter of Richard, son and heir of Robert atte Nook, formerly living at
Charing in Westminster in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields, granting
with warranty to William de Beverle and John Neuthorp of Pontefract,
clerks, and Thomas Brandesley, a tenement in Charing between the
tenement of Stephen Chese on the west and that formerly of Thomas
Ferrour on the east, the greater part of the garden lying between that of
Stephen Cheseós tenement on the west and that of William atte Haweós
tenement on the east, abutting on the kingôs highway to the north and
extending to the river Thames to the south. Witnesses: Andrew de
Tettesworth, John de Shelton, Edward Ferrour, William atte Hawe,
Geoffrey Dony, Peter Fyssher.

128 (ff.48vð49, no.x). 16 Sept. 1380.
Bond of Richard atte Noke of London, goldsmith, to William de Beverle
and John de Pontfreit, clerks, and Thomas de Brandesley, in Ã40 payable to
them or their heirs or executors at Westminster at Easter next, enrolled on
the dorse of the close roll of chancery in September of this year.

Calendared CCR 1377-81, p.475.

129 (f.49, no.xi). Westminster. 17 Sept. 1380.
Indenture witnessing that whereas Richard atte Noke of London,
goldsmith, is bound in Ã40 to William Beverley and John de Pontfreit,
clerks, and Thomas de Brandesley, payable to them or their attorneys at
Westminster at Easter next, William, John and Thomas concede that if they
are not impleaded or disturbed by Richard or anyone else in the possession
of the house and garden in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields, which
they bought from Richard, the bond will be void. Enrolled as above
[no.128].

Calendared ibid.

130 (f.49-49v, no.xii). London. 10 Oct. 1380.
Indenture witnessing that whereas Richard, son and heir of Robert atte
Noke, goldsmith of London, is bound by a statute merchant bond, made
before William Walworth, mayor of the staple of Westminster, on 8
October 1380, to William de Beverley and John de Neuthorp of
Pontefract, clerks, and Thomas de Brandesley in Ã40 payable at Martinnias
[sic] next, as is more fully contained in the bond, William, John and
Thomas concede that so long as they, or their heirs and assigns, enjoy in
peace the tenement at Charing in St. Martin in the Fields which they have
by the grant of Richard, the bond may be held in suspense, but if they or
their assigns are put out of the tenement or any part of it, and have to
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recover it by the warranty against Richard or his heirs, then Richard shall
make good the loss within 20 days of being so required. Otherwise the
bond shall be enforced with full rigour.

131 (f.49v, no.xiii). Westminster. 27 Nov. 1380. French
Quitclaim of Henry de Markeby. As Richard, son and heir of Robert atte
Noke, leased him a messuage with garden in Westminster for the term of
16 years, and has since enfeoffed William de Beverley and John de
Neuthorp of Pontefract, clerks, and Thomas de Brandesley to hold this
tenement in fee, he releases to them all his estate and claims in it.

132 (f.49v, no.xiv). Westminster. Quindene of Michaelmas 1380.
Final concord between William de Beverley and John Neuthorp of
Pontefract, clerks, and Thomas de Brandesley, by John de Kylynghale in
William's place, qu., and Richard, son of Robert atte Noke, and Rose his
wife, def., one messuage in Westminster. Right of William by gift of def.,
reniise and quitclaim to him. Warranty. Consideration Ã20.

Calendared, London and Midd. Fines, pp.155ð6.

133 (f.50, no.xv). Westminster. 1 Dec. 1380.
Quitclaim ofJohn de Neuthorp of Pontefract, clerk, to William de Beverle,
clerk, of a tenement at Charing between the tenement formerly of Stephen
Chese to the west and that of Simon Botiler to the east with a garden lying
between the gardens of Stephen Chese to the west and of William atte
Hawe to the east, abutting on the kingós highway to the north and the river
Thames to the south, which they had by the grant of Richard atte Noke.
Witnesses: Andrew de Tettesworth, William atte Hawe, Geoffrey Dony,
William Ludgarshale, John de Wastwyk.

134 (f.50, no.xvi). Westminster. 21 Feb. (Thurs. [recte Wed.?] eve of St.
Peter in Cathedra) 1381.
Quitclaim of Thomas de Brandesley to William de Beverle of the tenement
in Charing between the tenement of Stephen Chese to the west and that
formerly of Thomas Ferrour to the east, which they acquired jointly with
John Newthorp, clerk, from Richard, son of Robert atte Noke, goldsmith
of London. Witnesses: William del Hawe, William Ludgarshale, Geoffrey
Dony, Thomas Smyth, Geoffrey Walberd.

135 (f.50v, no.xvii). Charing. 7 Feb. 1383.
Charter of William de Beverle, clerk, granting with warranty to Walter de
Dotyton, John de Burton, William Holstrete, chaplains, and John Warde,
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clerk, the tenement in Charing acquired from Richard atte Noke with the
garden, as above [no.133]. Witnesses: James Lyons, William Peche, William
atte Hawe, Geoffrey Donyng, John de Stapulton, John de Warrewyk,
Thomas Spyser, Gilbert Bladesmyth.

136 (f.50v, no.xviii). Charing. 27 Dec. 1383.
Charter of Thomas Trillowe granting with warranty to Walter de Dotyton,
John de Burton and William de Holstrete, chaplains, and John Warde, clerk,
the messuage received by the grant ofJohn Trigg and William Turk, citizens
and ýshmongers of London, in Charing in St. Martin in the Fields parish,
between the king's highway to the north, the garden formerly ofRichard atte
Noke to the south, the tenement of the same Richard to the west, and a plot
of the abbot and convent ofWestminster and a tenement ofWilliam Hawe to
the east. Witnesses: James Lyons, Robert Kentbury, John de Schelton, Gilbert
de Causdon, Geoffrey Donyng, John de Stapulton,John de Warrewyke.

137 (ff.50v-51, no.xix). Westminster. 10 April 1386.
Quitclaim of William Holstrete, chaplain, to John de Burton and Walter
Dotyton, chaplains, and John Warde, clerk, of the tenement in Westminster
in the place called Charing jointly held by the grant of William de Beverle,
and which he acquired fi'om Richard, son and heir ofRobert Noke, and also
all his right in another tenement jointly acquired by the grant of Thomas
Trillow and lying next to that formerly ofRichard Noke and to the east of it.

138 (f.51, no.xx). London. 3June 1387.
Bond of Richard atte Noke, citizen and goldsmith of London, in Ã200 to
William Beverle, clerk, for merchandise bought of him, payable at
Midsummer next under the statute of merchants of Edward III.

139 (f.51-51v, no.xxi). London. 4June 1387.
Indenture of Richard, son and heir of Robert atte Noke, goldsmith of
London, witnessing that he gave a bond under the statute of merchants
before Nicholas de Exton, mayor of London, in Ã200 payable at
Midsummer to William Beverle, clerk, and that William concedes that
whilst he holds peacefully a tenement in Charing called óla Whitehalleó in
Westminster in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields, which he has by the
grant of Richard, this will be held in suspense, but if Richard or anyone on
his behalf shall interfere with his possession the bond shall have full force.

140 (f.51v, no.1txii). London. 20 Sept. 1389.
Deed ofJohn Warde, clerk of the duke of Gloucester, appointing John
Salley, chaplain, and Richard Palmer, clerk, his attorneys to give seisin to
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William de Beverle, clerk, John de Wymbeldon, Thomas Atherston and
Richard Welssh, chaplain, of a tenement called óle Whitehalleó as above
[no.139] and also of a messuage next to the ýrst tenement to the west,
formerly held by Thomas Trillowe, both of which tenement and messuage
he holds jointly with others by the grant ofWilliam de Beverle.

141 (ff.51v-52, no.1-txiii). Westminster. 28 Sept. (Eve of Michaelmas) 1389.
Charter of John de Burton and Walter de Dodyton, chaplains, and John
Warde, granting with warranty to William de Beverle, John de Wymbeldon,
Thomas de Atherston and Richard Walssh, chaplain, their tenement next
Charing in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields, formerly of Richard atte
Noke, between the tenement formerly of Stephen Chese to the west and
that formerly of Thomas Trillowe to the east, extending from the kingós
highway in the north to the river Thames in the south, with the large
garden lying between the garden formerly of Stephen Chest: to the west
and that ofJohn de Henle, clerk, to the east; and also the tenement
formerly of Thomas Trillowe lying between the ýrst tenement to the west
and a vacant plot of the abbot and convent of Westminster and the
tenement ofJohn de Henle to the east, extending from the kingós highway
in the north to the large garden of the ýrst tenement to the south.
Witnesses: William Stoket, bailiff of Westminster, William de Norton,
William de Hull, John Nicholl, smith, John de Wygheton, William Petche,
Andrew Brewer.

142 (f.52, noxxiv). Westminster. 22 July (St. Mary Magdalen) 1392.
Quitclaim ofJohn de Wymbeldon, Thomas Atherston and Richard Walssh,
chaplains, to William de Beverle, clerk, of the preinises described above
[no.141].

143 (f.52ð52v, no.xxv). Charing Cross. 10 March 1393.
Charter of William Beverle, clerk, granting to William Savage of Fleet
Street, William Skotte of Walpole, chaplain, and Thomas de Burgh,
chaplain, the premises described above [no.141]. Witnesses: William Stoket,
bailiff of Westminster, William de Norton, Robert Kentbury, William
Petche, John de Wygheton, Richard Palmer.

144 (f.52v, no.x'xvi). St. Martin in the Fields. 22 Oct. 1397.
Charter ofWilliam Savage of London, William Skotte of Walpole, chaplain,
and Thomas de Burgh, chaplain, granting with warranty to John de
Holand, duke of Exeter, earl of Huntingdon and chamberlain of England,
John Elys, knight, Master Richard Shelle, clerk, and Thomas Shelle,
esquire, a messuage in Charing Cross called óle Whitehalló in the parish of
St. Martin in the Fields, which they had by the grant ofWilliam de Beverle,
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clerk, and which was formerly of Richard atte Noke. It lies between the
tenement formerly of Thomas Trillowe called óle Vyneó in which Richard
Palmer now lives, to the east ð which tenement called óle Vyneó extends for
53% yards of 3 feet from the kingós highway in the north to the river
Thames in the south ð and the garden of the prior of St. John ofJerusalem
to the west. The tenement called óWhitehalló extends in length from the
king's highway to the north to the River Thames to the south as deýned by
metes and bounds. Witnesses: William de Norton, John Welnorle, Richard
Palmer, John de Wighton, John Warwyk.

145 (f-.53, no.xxvii). St. Martin in the Fields. 23 Oct. 1397.
Quitclaim ofJohn Elys, knight, to Thomas Shelle, esquire, of the messuage
called óle Whitehalló described above [no.144].

146 (f.53ð53v, no.xxviii). [St. Martin in the Fields?]. 23 Oct. 1397.
Indenture witnessing that whereas Richard Shelle, clerk, and Thomas Shelle,
esquire, were enfeoffed of a messuage in Charing Cross jointly with others by
William Savage, William Skotte and Thomas Burgh by charter, Savage,
Skotte and Burgh have given this charter with other muniments to Richard
and Thomas Shelle, the 5 deeds being: [1] the quitclaim by William Holstrete
[no.137]; [2] the charter ofJohn Burton, Walter Dotyton and John Warde to
William Beverle [no.141]; [3] the letter of attorney of John Warde to give
seisin [no.140]; [4] the release of John Wymbeldon [no.142]; and [5] the
charter of William Beverle to Savage, Skotte and Burgh [no.143]; they,
Richard and Thomas Shelle, have agreed that whenever Savage, Skotte and
Burgh ask for the 5 charters or any of them for any reasonable cause for the
defence of the messuage they may have them, giving security for their return.

147 (f.53v. no.xxix). Westminster. 16 Aug. 1401.
Quitclaim of Richard Shelle, clerk, brother of Thomas Shelle, knight, to
Robert Chalons, knight, of all his rights in a messuage called Charing in St.
Martin in the Fields.

148 (f.54, noaocx). Westniinster. 16 Aug. 1401.
Quitclaim of John Shellee, brother of Thomas Shellee, knight, to Robert
Chalons, knight, of all his rights in the messuage in the place called Charing
in St. Martin in the Fields.

[f. 54v is blank]

149 (f.55, no.)o-txii). Charing. 8 Feb. 1413. [sic. 14 Henry
Charter of Robert Chalons, knight, granting with warranty to John
Writell, citizen and draper of London, Nicholas Cook and Robert
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Milcum, clerks, and John Stracchelege, the messuage in St. Martin in the
Fields called Charing, formerly of Thomas Shelly, knight, forfeited by him
and taken into kingós hands. Henry IV, formerly [sic] king, granted it to
Robert by letters patent.ó Witnesses: John Stoke, clerk, John Gedney,
Thomas Trittesham, John Vanumeth, John Corby.

1. CPR 1399-1401, p.395. 3 Dec. 1400.

150 (f.55, no.2-txxiii). 10 Oct. 1414.
Quitclaim of John Writell, citizen and draper of London. Nicholas Cooke
and Robert Milcum, clerks, and John Straccheley to Robert Chalons of the
messuage, as above [no.137].

151 (f.55ð55v, no.xxxiv). Westminster. 9 Dec. 1415.
Charter of William Skotte of Walpole, clerk, granting to Henry
Merston, Simon Gaunstede, Henry Jolypas and Thomas Grauntham,
clerk, the messuage at Charing in the parish of St. Martin in the Fields,
which he held jointly with others by the grant of William Beverle,
clerk, situated between the tenement of the abbot and convent of
Westminster and that formerly of John de Henle to the east, and the
tenement of Robert Chalons, knight, and formerly of Thomas Shelley,
knight, to the west, and between the kingós highway to the north and a
large garden to the south. Witnesses: Nicholas Horewode, Thomas
Tottesham, John Wiggemore, John Wyndereth, Thomas Smyth of
Westminster.

152 (f.55v, no.xxxv). 20 March 1417.
Charter of Henry Merston, Simon Gaunstede, Henry Jolypas and Thomas
Grantham, clerks, granting to Robert Chalons, knight, the tenement at
Charing Cross, as above [no.151]. Witnesses: John Clynt, Adam Bamrne,
John Totesham, John Wyggemore, Thomas Smyth.

153 (f.55v, no.xxxvi). 26 May 1417.
Quitclaim of Henry Merston, Simon Gaunstede, Henry Jolypas and
Thomas Grantham, clerks, to Robert Chalons, knight, of the tenement at
Charing Cross as above [no.151].

154 (f.56, no.1-otxvii). 26 March 1417.
Quitclaim of Thomas, son and heir, and of Maud, daughter, of Nicholas
Shelle, esquire, to Robert Chalons, knight, of all actions and suits which
they might have against him before the date of this deed.
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155 (f.56, noxicxviii). Charing. 29 May 1424.
Charter of Robert Chalons, knight, granting with warranty to Ralph
Cromewell, John Typtoft and Walter Hungerford, knights, Master
Simon Sydenham, dean of Salisbury, John Juyn, Walter Hungerford, son
of Walter, William Westbury, William Darell, John Westbury, William
Alisaundre, Robert Longe, Roger Trubody and John Gylys, the
messuage in Charing between the tenements of the abbot of
Westminster and the prior of St. John ofJerusalem to the west, the
tenement of the abbot to the east, the kingós highway to the north and
the river Thames to the south, to hold to them and the heirs and assigns
of Walter Hungerford, knight, of the chief lords of the fee. Witnesses:
William Cheyne, William Paston, William Massy, John Gernon, Robert
Charyngworth.

156 (f.56, no.xxxix). Westminster. Octave of Hilary 1426, made octave of
Martinmas 1425.
Final concord between Ralph Cromwell and others as above [no.155],
pl., and Robert Chalons, knight, and Blanche, his wife, def., the
messuage described above [no.155]. Right of Walter Hungerford, knight,
by gift of def., release and quitclaim to pl. with warranty. Consideration
Ã100.

Calendared, London and Midd. Fines, p.184.

157 (ff.56v-57, no.xi). 31 Oct. (Eve ofAll Saints) 1429.
Release and quitclaim with warranty by Walter Hungerford, lord of
Heytesbury and Homet, to his co-feoffees [as in no.155] of the messuage
described there. Witnesses: John, archbishop of York, chancellor of
England, William, bishop of Norwich, keeper of the privy seal, Nicholas
Dyxon, clerk, master of St. Jamesós hospital [Westminster], Thomas
Charleton, knight, John Fortescu, Richard Bamfeld.
Enrolled on the dorse of the close roll of chancery in February of this year.

C 54/112, m.13d. Calendared CCR 1429-35, p.44.

158 (f.57-57v, no.xli). 5 Nov. (Sat. before Martinmas) 1429.
Charter of Ralph Cromwell and the other co-feoffees as above
[no.155] granting to Walter Hungerford, knight, lord of Heytesbury
and Homer, Philip Courtenay, esquire, John Stourton of Stourton,
John Pawlet of Nunney and Walter Paunsfot the messuage described
there to hold for the life of Walter with successive remainders to the
heirs male of his body and his right heirs. Witnesses and enrolment as
above [no.157].

C 54/112, m.8d. Calendared CCR 1429-35, p.53.
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159 (f.57v, no.xlii). Date as last.
Deed of Ralph Cromwell and the other co-feoffees as above [no.155]
appointing John Fortescu and Thomas Broune their attorneys to give seisin
of the above messuage.

160 (ff.57vð58, no.xliii). Westrmnster. Abbey chapter house. 20 June 1426.
Indenture between Richard, abbot, and the convent of Westminster and
Walter, Lord Hungerford, treasurer of England, witnessing the grant of a plot
of land in Charing lying between Walterós house on the east and a tenement
of the abbey on the other side, extending in length 58 feet and % inch from
the kingós highway to the Thames, and in breadth at the end towards the
highway 18 feet, and the end towards the Thames 17 feet and 3% inches, for
a certain sum of money, to hold for the term of 90 years from the date of
the deed, rendering yearly to the monk keeper of St. Maryós chapel a rose at
Midsummer. At the end of the term the abbey may recover the land with
any buildings erected on it without interference by Walter Hungerford or
his heirs or assigns.

[f.58v is blank; ff.59-66 headed]: Wilts - Mildenhall

161 (f.59, no.xxi). Westminster. Octave of Martinmas, 1383.
Final concord between Thomas Hungerford, knight, pl., and Thomas
atte Grove and Alice his wife, def., 2 virgates, 4 a. pasture and 6 a. wood
in Mildenhall and Sound. Grant to pl. to hold for his life with successive
remainders to his sons, Robert, Thomas, Walter and John, the heirs
male of each in turn and his own right heirs. Warranty. Consideration
Ã20.

Calendared Wilts Fines 1377-1509, no.58.

162 (f.59v, no.xxii). Mildenhall. 20 Dec. (Sun. before Christmas) 1388.
Charter of Thomas atte Grove and Alice his wife, daughter and heir of
Peter atte Grove [sic], and John Mersshemelle of Manningford Bruce,
granting with warranty to Thomas Hungerford, knight, and John Elys,
rector of Mildenhall, all the lands and tenements in Mildenhall formerly
held by Peter atte Grove. Witnesses: Robert Russell, knight, John Wyly,
Thomas Polton, Richard Polton, John Staunford.

163 (f.59v, no.xxiii). Malmesbury. 20 Dec. 1388.
Deed of Thomas Hungerford, knight, and John Elys, appointing John
Wyke, bailiff of Mildenhall, their attorney to receive seisin of the above
premises [no.162].
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164 (ff.59vð60, no.xxiv). Westminster. Octave of Candlemas 1389.
Final concord between Thomas Hungerford, knight, pl., and Thomas atte
Grove and Alice his wife, and John Mershemull of Manningford Bruce,
def., 1 messuage, 2 virgates and 5 a. meadow in Mildenhall. Right of Alice,
grant to pl. to hold during his life, with successive remainders to Walter his
son, the heirs of his body, the heirs of the body of Thomas and his right
heirs.

Calendared Wilts Fines 1377-1509, no. 1 20.

165 (f.60, no.xxv). Salisbury. 25 March (Lady Day) 1370.
Bond ofWalter Pavely in Ã300 payable to Thomas Hungerford in Salisbury
cathedral at Midsunmier next.

166 (f.60ð60v, no.xxvi). Salisbury. 28 March 1370. French
Indenture of defeasance witnessing that as Walter Pavely, knight, is bound
to Thomas Hungerford in Ã300 payable at Midsummer next, Thomas
agrees for himself, his heirs and executors, that if Walter makes available
to him and his heirs a yearly rent of 20 marks from his lands and
tenements in fee simple in one of the counties of Hertford, Essex, Kent or
Wiltshire, by which he shall be assured of the rent should he or his heirs
be impleaded or expelled from the manor of Mildenhall, and he or his
heirs being unable to recover or defend it, doing their utmost so to do,
then the annuity shall be enforced; but if Thomas or his heirs fail fully to
defend the suit for the recovery of the manor, the bond shall be held null
and void.

167 (f.60v, no.xxvii). Salisbury. 11 March 1371. French
Indenture of defeasance witnessing that as Walter de Paveley, knight, is
bound to Thomas Hungerford by charters to warrant the manor of
Mildenhall, in case Thomas or his heirs shall be impleaded concerning
it, he will vouch to warranty Walter or his heirs, and if they be unable
to defend the manor, or by law to maintain Thon1asôs estate, Thomas
or his heirs doing their utmost in such plea, so that after the hearing
and the rendering ofjudgment they shall have cause to sue for
execution against Walter or his heirs to the value of the manor, on
condition that if Walter or his heirs shall one year after the judgment
pay Thomas or his heirs Ã100, they shall lose execution and the
warranty shall be annulled. Witnesses: Robert de Loundres and
Richard de Haveryng, knights, William Worston, Michael Skylling,
Peter Ramshull.
Enrolled on the dorse of the close roll of chancery, March 1371.

C 54/209, m.38d. Calendared CCR 1369-74, p.281.
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168 (f.61, no.i). London. 31 Oct. (Mon. Eve ofAll Saints) 1351.
Charter ofJohn de Mohun, knight, lord of Dunster, granting with warranty
to Bartholomew de Burgherssh the elder, knight, the reversion of the
manor and advowson of Mildenhall after the death of Eleanor, widow of
John de Mere, knight, who holds them for life. Witnesses: Ralph
Spigornell, Roger Warde and Peter de Veele, knights, John de Alveton,
Robert Russell.

169 (f.61,no.ii). London. 30 Nov. 1351.
Quitclaim ofJohn de Mohun, knight, lord of Dunster, to Bartholomew de
Burgherssh, knight, of the manor and advowson of Mildenhall. Witnesses:
Andrew Aubre, mayor of London, John Wroth and Gilbert Steynthorp,
sheriffs, Richard Lasor, William de Welde, Thomas Legy, Bartholomew
Deunarb.

170 (f.61ð61v, no.iii). Westminster. Quindene of Easter 1352 (made
Morrow ofAll Souls 1351).
Final concord between Bartholomew de Burgherssh the elder, pl., and John
de Mohun of Dunster, def. Manor and advowson of Mildenhall, which
Eleanor widow of John de Mere, knight, holds for the term of her life.
Grant of reversion to pl. with warranty. Consideration 300 marks.

Calendared I/Vihs Fines 1327-77, no.396.

171 (f.61v, no.iv). London. 4 May 1365. French
Charter of Bartholomew de Burgherssh, knight, granting with warranty
to Thomas Hungerford the manor of Mildenhall to hold for the term of
his life and 1 year more, rendering 20 marks for that last year by his
executors, and rendering to the chief lords of the fee the rents and
services due, with reversion to Bartholomew and his heirs. Witnesses:
Robert Loundres and Richard Haveryng, knights, William Werston,
William Harderost.

172 (ff.61vð62, no.v). London. 5 May 1365. French
Deed of Bartholomew de Burgherssh, knight, appointing Peter
Rammeshull and John Warneford his attorneys to give seisin of the manor
of Mildenhall to Thomas Hungerford.

173 (f.62, no.vi). London. 6 May 1365. French
Deed of Thomas Hungerford appointing William parson of Mildenhall,
Robert Toly and William Thurkern his attorneys to receive seisin of the
manor of Mildenhall.
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174 (f.62, no.vii). Henden. 1 Feb. 1369.
Charter of Bartholomew de Burgherssh granting with warranty to Walter
Paveley, knight, William Steele and William Wyndesore, clerks, Thomas
Hungerford and John de Gildesburgh, the manors of Brandon,
Warwickshire, Haydor, Lincolnshire, Grantchester and Barton,
Cambridgeshire, Plumstead, Fox Grove, Henden and Chiddingstone,
Kent, Burwash, Sussex, Carshalton, Surrey, and Crakemarsh,
Staffordshire, the advowson of Market Bosworth, Leicestershire, and his
house in the parish of St. Peter, Paul's Wharf, in London, with the
reversion of the manors of Sible Hedingham, Essex, which Walter Paveley
holds for life, of Mildenhall, Wiltshire, which Thomas Hungerford holds
for life, and Bexýelds, Essex, which John de Gildesburgh holds for life.
Witnesses: Stephen Valoignes, Lawrence Brenlee, Thomas Moriaunt and
Thomas Coum (?), knights, John Colpeper, William Apulderfeld, James
Pecham.

175 (f.62v, no.viii). Mildenhall. 1 April 1370.
Quitclaim with warranty of Walter Paveley of Hilperton, knight, to
Thomas Hungerford of the manor and advowson of Mildenhall.
Witnesses: Robert de Loundres, Robert de la Mare, Ralph Cheyne
and John de la Mare, knights, Thomas Dru, Nicholas Bonham, John
Leye.

176 (f.62v, no.ix). Salisbury. 25 March (Lady Day) 1370.
Quitclaim of Margaret, widow of Bartholomew de Burgherssh, knight, to
Thomas Hungerford, knight, of the manor and advowson of Mildenhall.
Witnesses as above [no.175].

177 (ff.62vð3, no.x). Salisbury. 1 March 1371.
Charter of Walter Paveley, knight, granting with warranty to Thomas
Hungerford the manor of Mildenhall with the advowson and knightôs fees.
Witnesses: Robert de Loundres and Richard Havryngg, knights, William
Worston, Michael Skylling, Peter Rameshull.

C 54/209, m.38d. Calendared CCR 1369-74, p.280.

178 (f.63, no.xi). Salisbury. 6 March 1371.
Quitclaim with warranty of Walter de Paveley, knight, to Thomas
Hungerford and his heirs and assigns of all rights which he might have in
the manor of Mildenhall with knight's fees, the advowson, and the
reversion of the manor, which reversion after the death of Thomas,
Bartholomew de Burgherssh, knight, granted to Walter, William Steel and
William Wyndesore, clerks, John de Gildesburgh and Thomas, and their
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heirs and assigns. In virtue of the grant Thomas attorned to them.
Witnesses as above [no.177].
Enrolled on the dorse of the chancery [roll] in March 45th year.

C 54/209, rn.38d. Calendared CCR 1369ð74, p.282.

179 (f.63v, no.xii). Salisbury. 8 March. 1371.
Quitclaim of Walter de Paveley, knight, William Stele and William
Wyndesore, clerks, and John Gyldesburgh to Thomas Hungerford of all
their rights in the manor of Mildenhall, the reversion of which manor and
advowson Bartholomew de Burgherssh granted as above [no.178].
Witnesses as above [no.177].
Enrolled as above [no.178].

180 (f.63v, no.xiii). Salisbury. 11 March 1371.
Deed of Walter de Pavely, knight, appointing Peter Rameshull and John
Warneford his attorneys to give seisin of the manor and advowson of
Mildenhall to Thomas Hungerford.

181 (ff.63vð64, no.xiv). Mildenhall. 17 Nov. (Mon. after Martinmas)
1356.
Quitclaim with warranty of Payn de Mohun, uncle ofJohn de Mohun, late
lord of Dunster, to Thomas Hungerford, John Corf, clerk, John Leye, Peter
Rameshull, John Colyngborne, John Warneford and the heirs and assigns of
Thomas, of the manor and advowson of Mildenhall. Witnesses: John Lovell,
Robert Loundres and Robert Russell, knights, William de Worston,
Thomas Dru, Thomas de Polton.

182 (f.64, no.xv). Salisbury. 25 March (Lady Day) 1370.
Quitclaim of William Steele and William Wyndesore, clerks, and John
Gildesburgh to Thomas Hungerford of the manor and advowson of
Mildenhall. Witnesses: Robert de Loundres, Robert de la Mare, Ralph
Cheyne and John de la Mare, knights, Thomas Drewe, Nicholas Bonham,
John Leghe.

183 (f.64, no.xvi). Mildenhall. 24 Feb. 1377.
Quitclaim with warranty ofJoan, widow of John de Mohun, lord of
Dunster, to Roger de Loundres, knight, John Corf, clerk, John Leye, John
Panes, Peter Rameshull, John Colyngbourne and John Warneford of all
her rights in the manor of Mildenhall. Witnesses: John Lovell and
Richard Haveryng, knights, William Worston, Thomas Dru, Thomas
Polton.
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184 (f.64v). Mildenhall. 26 March 1377.
Quitclaim ofJoan Mohun, as above [no.183] to Thomas Hungerford,
knight, of all her rights in the manor ofMildenhall. Witnesses: John Lovell,
Richard Haveryng and Robert Russell, knights, William Worston, Thomas
Dru, Thomas de Polton.

185 (ff.64vð65). [1348 x 1383]. French
Memorandum of action to be taken if a plea should be entered concerning
the manor of Mildenhall by the heir ofJohn de Mohun of Dunster, knight,
and Joan his wife by action on an entail by a ýneó between them and
William de Houthorp and Richard Cok, chaplain, by which John and Joan
and the heirs of their bodies were granted the reversion after the deaths of
John de Meere and Eleanor his wife, who were tenants for life by the grant
ofJohn de Mohun, father ofJohn. William and Richard had no rights in the
manor or the reversion, and so the fine and entail were null and void, and no
attornment was made by the tenants for life. Afterwards John de Mohun, the
younger, granted the manor to Bartholomew de Burgherssh, senior, knight,
after the death of Eleanor? Bartholomew entered and held it, and it
descended to Bartholomew de Burghessh, knight, the son, who granted it to
Thomas Hungerford for life. Then by charter of feoifment he granted the
reversion with other holdings to Walter Paule, William Steele and William
de Wyndesore, clerks, Thomas Hungerford and John de Gildesburgh.
Thomas Hungerford attorned to the others. They released it to him and this
release was enrolled in chancery in March 1371. Afterwards Payn de Mohun,
uncle ofJohn de Mohun, knight, who was party to the ýne, collateral
ancestor ofJohn de Mohun, brother ofJohn de Mohun the father, released
with warranty any rights which he might have. This release is a bar to forbar
of any action by any preceding entail made by any of the Mohuns on
account of non possession of reversion and non attornment as is said above.

l. Wilts Fines 1327-77, no.366.
2. No.170 above.

186 (f.65ð65v). Westminster. Octave ofMartinmas 1383.
Final concord between Thomas Hungerford, knight, pl., and Robert
Cherleton and John Wykyng, def., granting the manor of Mildenhall to
Thomas with successive remainders to his sons, Robert, Thomas, Walter
and John, the male heirs of each in turn and his own right heirs.

Calendared Wilts Fines, 1377-1509, no.59.

187 (ff.65ð66, no.xx). Grove Place in Mildenhall. 14 April (Fri. after
Easter) 1368.
Charter of Alice atte Grove, daughter and heir of Peter atte Grove,
granting with warranty to Adam Burgalun of Burbage and John



HUNGERFORD CARTULARY 51

Mersshemille of Manningford Bruce all her lands and tenements in
Mildenhall which she inherited after the death of Peter. Witnesses: John
Lyteman, John Dunysford, John Elefus, Hugh atte More, Richard atte
Hulle.

188 not used.

[f.66v is blank; ff.67ð90 headed]: Wilts ð Rushall

189 (f.67, no.i). [1151 x 1174].ó
Charter of Ellis son of Ralph granting his daughter Hawise de Borehard
to Simon de Borehard with the land of Rushall which he and Beatrice his
wife hold as her marriage portion (matrimonium). Simon gave Beatrice a
gold ring, and Eustace, heir of Ellis, agreed to the gift. Simon and his
heirs to hold of Ellis and his heirs in frank marriage, rendering the
services which Ellis rendered, namely 1 bezant or 2s. yearly. Witnesses:
Peter, prior of Bath, William de Alno, Alexander his brother, Ralph son
of Walter, William his son, William son of Roger, Adam son of
Norbert(?), Gilbert son of Robert, Simon de Leye, Robert de Olosewell,
Hugh son of Iweyne, Osmond de lmestune, Osmond de Wrockchessale,
Richard his brother, Drew son of William, John Rufus son of Simon de
Leye.

1. Dates of Peter, prior of Bath.

190 (f.67, no.ii). [c.1150ð60].
Charter of Alexander de Alno granting to Ellis son of Ralph Z hide in
Rushall which Godethin [sic] Heryng held, to hold in fee tail to himself and
his heirs of Alexander and his heirs rendering yearly 1 bezant or its price;
and 2 hides in the same place with his (Alexanderôs) sister in ýrank marriage
quit of all services save those due to the king. For this conýrmation Ellis has
given Alexander his lord 14 mark. Witnesses: William son of Fulcan, Robert
de Alno.

191 (f.67, no.iii). [c.1150ð60].
Charter of Ellis, son of Eustace de Wrokeshale, granting with warranty
to Simon, son of Simon de Bosco Rohard, grandfather of Simon, in
frank marriage with Hawise his daughter, rendering 2s. at Michaelmas
from the % hide which Edulphus and Alurich held, and from other
lands such scutage as is due according to the custom of other hides in
Rushall when scutage is levied. Witnesses: Hugh de Nevilla, Roger de
Torpell.
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192 (f.67v). Quindene of Trinity 1261.
Memorandum that there was a plea between Simon de Borard and Geoffrey
de Wroxhale on a plea that he acquit him against Alexander de Alno for
certain services etc.

Plea not found.

193 (f.67v, no.iv). Winchester. Easter 1311.
Agreement between Roger la Warre, knight, and Adam de Stock, by which
Roger granted to Adam with warranty the manor and advowson of Rushall
to hold for the term of 10 years. For this Adam gave Roger Ã200.
Witnesses: Walter de Paveley, William de Harden and William de Cotes,
knights, Henry de la Folie, John le Frende, John de Lymbermere, John de la
Ryvere.

194 (fl-.67vð68, no.v). Winchester. 20 May (Ascension) 1311.
Charter of Roger la Warre, knight, granting with warranty to Adam de
Stok and Geva his wife the manor and advowson of Rushall to hold to
them and the heirs of his body with remainder to his right heirs. For this
grant Adam has given Ã1,000. Witnesses: Walter de Pavely, William de
Harden, Stephen de Brighmerston and William de Cotes, knights, Henry
de la Folie, John le Frende, John de Lymbermere, John de la Ryvere.

Licence for this grant, no.198 below.

195 and 196 (f.68ð68v, nos.vi, vii). Winchester. 20 May 1311.
Two copies of the above charter [no.194], similar in all respects.

197 (f.68v). Winchester. 20 May 1311.
Letters of Roger de la Warre to the tenants, both free and customary, of the
manor of Rushall instructing them to receive Adam and Geva de Stock as
their lords, he having given the manor to them.

198 (f.68v). London. 1 Sept. 1311.
Letters patent of Edward Il licensing Roger de la Warre to grant the manor
of Rushall to Adam de Stock, Geva his wife and his heirs.

Calendared CPR 1307-13, p.388.

199 (f.69). Westminster. 18 May 1316.
Letters patent of Edward II licensing Robert de Hungerford and Geva his
wife to enfeoff Roger dc Stocke of their manor and advowson of Rushall,
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and for him to regrant to them for their lives with reversion to himself, for
a fine ofÃ10.

Calendared ibid, p.466.

200 (f.69). Westminster. Octave of Michaelmas 1316.
Final concord between Robert de Hungerford and Geva his wife, pl., and
Roger de Stock, def., manor and advowson ofRushall, to hold to pl. of the
king for their lives with reversion to def. Kingôs order.

Calendared I/Wits Fines 1272-1327, p.95.

201 (f.69v). Burbage. 16 Oct. 1355.
Charter of Edward de Stock, lord of Rushall, granting with warranty to
Henry Sturmy of Burbage a rent of Ã10 from the manors of Rushall
and Stock Street and from all his lands and tenements in Great(?)
Bedwyn, Longbridge Deverill and Shalbourne payable by equal parts at
Easter and Michaelmas with right to distrain if in arrears. Henry has
given 6d. by way of seisin. Witnesses: John de Roches, John de
Harnham, Thomas de Hungerford, Peter Pypard, Michael Skyllyng,
John Waryn.

202 (ff.69vð70). Salisbury castle. 19 Dec. 1354.
Notiýcation ofJohn Everard, escheator in Wiltshire, that he has given seisin
of the manor of Rushall to Edward de Stocke in accordance with royal
letters of 14 Dec.ó which he quotes in full: as it was found by inquisition2
that Robert Hungerford held the manor of Rushall for life of the
inheritance of Edward, son and heir of Roger de Stock, formerly a minor
in the kingôs ward, the manor being held in chief as a 4th part of a knightôs
fee, and as Edward has proved his age and done homage.

l. Calendared CPR 1354-60, p.47.
2. CIPM x, no.41. Robert diedJune 1352.

203 (ff.70ð1). Woodstock. 12 Nov. 1355.
Letters patent licensing Edward de Stocke to enfeoffJohn de Neubury and
Adam Blake, chaplains, and Thomas Hungerford, citizen of Salisbury, in the
manor and advowson of Rushall, and for them to re-enfeoff Edward, Joan
his wife, and the heirs of his body with successive remainders to Thomas,
son of Walter Hungerford, William de Luci, knight, Edmund brother of
William, Thomas Stocke, the heirs of the body of each in turn and the
right heirs of Edward.

Calendared CPR 1354-8, pp.308ð-9.



54 HUNGERFORD CARTULARY

[f.70v is blank]

204 (f.71). Salisbury castle. 20 Jan. 1357.
Conýrmation by Thomas Hungerford, escheator in Wiltshire, that, in
accordance with a royal writ of 20 Nov. 1356 which he quotes in full, he is
not interfering with the inheritance or revenues of Edward, son and heir of
Roger de Stocke. John Everard, late escheator, was ordered to give seisin to
Edward, whose age was proved in 1354,1 as above [no.202].

1. CIPM x, no.199.

205 (f.71ð71v). Rushall. 8 April (Fri. after St. Ambrose) 1356. French
Indenture between Edward de Stocke on one part, and John de Neubury,
parson of Rushall, Adam Blake, chaplain, and Thomas de Hungerford,
merchant of Salisbury, on the other, by which Edward agrees that he by royal
licence will enfeoffJohn, Adam and Thomas in fee simple in the manor and
advowson of Rushall, and that they will by Midsununer next re-enfeoff him,
Joan his wife and the heirs of his body, with successive remainders to
Thomas, son of Walter de Hungerford, William Lucy, knight, Edmund his
brother, Thomas, son and heir ofWilliam de Stokke next Great Bedwyn, the
heirs of the body of each in turn and the right heirs ofEdward.

206 (ff.71vð72). Rushall. 26 March (Sun. after Lady Day) 1357.
Charter of Edward de Stokke made with the king's licence granting to John
de Neubury and Adam Blake, chaplains, and Thomas Hungerford, citizen
and merchant of Salisbury, the manor and advowson of Rushall. Witnesses:
Richard de Coumbe, knight, Robert de Remesbury, Michael Skyllyng,
John de Malwayn ofEtchilhampton, John de Merssheniill, Richard Burdon,
Ralph Marscal, Peter Symond, John Forester.

207 (Ã72). Rushall 1 May 1357.
Charter of John de Neubury and Adam Blake, chaplains, and Thomas de
Hungerford, citizen and merchant of Salisbury, granting to Edward de
Stokke, Joan his wife and the heirs of his body, the manor and advowson of
Rushall with remainders as above [no.205]. Witnesses: Lawrence de Sancto
Martino and Richard de Coumbe, knights, Henry de Merlaunde, Robert
de Remmesbury, Robert de Echelhampton, John Malewayn of
Wedhampton, John de Mersshemulle, Richard Burdon, Ralph Mareschal,
Peter Symond, John Malewayn of All Cannings, John Forester.

208 (f.72V). Rushall. 6 Oct. (Wed. St. Faith) 1378.
Indenture of William Horneby and Joan his wife, widow of Edward de
Stocke, granting to farm to John Griffith the whole manor ofRushall with all
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lands, rents, services, wards, marriages, reliefs, heriots, escheats, church-scots,
and perquisites of court, to hold for the term of 10 years from this date,
reserving the advowson to themselves; John to render 40 marks of gold and
silver by equal parts at Easter and Michaelmas and 2 lb. pepper yearly. William
and Joan will sustain him against any charges on the manor by the king or his
council, the justices or barons of the exchequer, justices itinerant or bailiffs of
the hundred. John will repair and keep in good state the houses of the manor,
except for damage by horriýc tempests, William and Joan providing suþicient
timber for the purpose; and they will have licence to distrain if the rent be
more than a fortnight in arrears. William and Joan are bound in Ã100 of gold
and silver to observe the agreement. Witnesses: Nicholas Boteler, William
Rolf, John Falyng'worthe,Jol'm Dassh, Robert Edmond.

209 (f.73, no.xx). Salisbury. 19July 1393.
Charter of William Esturmy of Burbage, knight, granting to Thomas
Hungerford, Walter his son and the heirs and assigns of Thomas, the rent of
Ã10 which Edward de Stokke, lord of Rushall, gave to Henry Esturmy of
Burbage, uncle of William, from his manors of Rushall and Stock Street
and from all his lands and tenements in Great(?) Bedwyn, Longbridge
Deverill and Shalbourne with licence to distrain, as above [no.201].

210 (f.73ð73v, no.xxi). Salisbury. 19July 1393.
Charter of William Esturmy of Burbage, knight, as William Horneby and
Joan his wife granted him a yearly rent of 10 marks from the manor of
Rushall, which was formerly of Edward de Stokke, payable at Easter and
Michaelmas by equal parts during the life ofJoan, with the right to distrain
if one month in arrears, and also to raise a rent of Ã10 which Edward de
Stokke granted to Henry Esturmy, uncle of William, and his heirs and
assigns, which rent reverts to William, he now grants the rent from Rushall
to Thomas Hungerford, Walter his son and their heirs and assigns, with
licence to distrain if one month in arrears. Further if William Horneby dies
and Joan surviving fails to pay the rent of 10 marks during the whole of her
life then Thomas or his heirs may levy the Ã10 in the manor and in all the
lands formerly held by Edward de Stokke as granted to Henry the uncle.

211 (f.73v, no.xxii). Salisbury. 19July 1393.
Deed of William Esturmy, knight, appointing John Flour and John Bernard
his attorneys to give seisin of a rent of 10 marks from the manor ofRushall to
Thomas Hungerford and Walter his son, according to the terms of his grant.

212 (ff.73vð74, no.xxiii). Farleigh Mountfort. 24 May 1394. French
Indenture between Thomas Hungerford, knight, and William Horneby and
Joan his wife witnessing that as William and Joan are bound to pay a yearly
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rent ofÃ10 from the manor of Rushall by the grant of Edward Stokke, late
husband ofJoan, to Henry Esturmy and his heirs, which descended to
William Sturmy, knight, his nephew, and he has granted it to Thomas, so
that they are bound to pay him during the life ofJoan, Thomas has granted
that if during the life ofJoan she pays 10 marks at the terms named in the
annuity or within 15 days thereafter, she will not be held to pay any more
than the 10 marks on the appointed days.

213 (f.74, no.xxiv). London. 12 March (St. Gregory) 1404.
Deed of Walter Hungerford, knight, appointing John Bacon and Thomas
de Eyr his attorneys to take seisin of the manor and advowson of Rushall
from Richard Colyngbourne, escheator, according to the kingôs writ.

Writ, 7 March 1404, calendared CFR 1399-1405, p.243.

214 (f.74, no.xxv). Westminster. 5 Nov. 1408.
Letters patent of Henry IV licensing Walter Hungerford, knight, for 10
marks paid into the hanaper, to enfeoff William Stourton, John Frank,
clerk, William Poulet, William Besiles and William Westbury in the manor
of Rushall and for them to regrant it to him, Katharine his wife, the heirs
of their bodies and his right heirs.

Calendared CPR 1408-13, p.23.

215 (f.74-ð74v, no.xxvi). Rushall. 20 Dec. 1408.
Charter of Walter Hungerford, knight, son of Thomas Hungerford, knight,
granting by royal licence and with warranty to William Stourton and others,
as above [no.214], the manor ofRushall without the advowson, which he has
already granted to the prior and convent of Longleat for performing certain
tasks speciýed in the grant. Witnesses: William Esturmy, knight, Thomas
Calstone, John Clyvedon, John Westbury senior, Thomas Heire.

216 (f.74, no.xxvii). Rushall. 6 Nov. 1409.
Charter of William Stourton and others as above [no.214] granting the
manor of Rushall to Walter Hungerford, knight, Katharine his wife, the
heirs of their bodies and his right heirs. Witnesses: William Cheyn, William
Sturmy, John Merland, Robert Hye, William Chesterton.

217 (f.74v, no.xxviii). Rushall. 6 Nov. 1409.
Deed ofWilliam Stourton and others, as above [no.214] appointing Robert
Ayshleygh and John Pratte, clerk, their attorneys to give seisin of the manor
of Rushall to Walter Hungerford, knight, and Katharine his wife.
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218 (ff.74vð75).
Deed of Fulk de Auno informing all his men and friends of Rushall that he
has granted to Walter son of Drew to hold to himself and his heirs, of Fulk
and his heirs, 1 virgate formerly ofWilliam the reeve and another formerly
of Adolphus de Aqua, of his lordship, 3 a. in each year, namely in one year
in óCumbaô 3 a., in the other year 1 a. above óBlakahullaô and in óCumbaô
2 a., as the charter of Alexander his father witnesses. Further he has granted
him and his wife each year 2 a., 1 a. above óBlacahullaô and another in
óCumbaô, and the other year 2 a. in óPorteweyaô rendering 20s. yearly for all
services, namely Z mark at each of St. Andrew, Whitsun and Michaelmas.
He also granted pasture for 200 sheep in the plain and on the hills wherever
his own animals graze, and for 12 animals and 12 pigs quit of pannage; and
if any one of his men of Rushall wishes to secure his pasture, and if he buys
and holds it in peace for three weeks without challenge, he, Fulk, grants
that for it he, the tenant, becomes his man and does homage and pays relief.
Witnesses: Master Robert, William son of Robert, Roger de Upavene,
Master Alexander, William Warwik, Robert Pyce, Adam Blunde, Serl de
Cherleton, William Pateric, Drew de Cherleton, Alexander de Cherleton.

219 (f.75).
Charter of Fulk de Alno granting with warranty to William de Frankenen,
son of William de Franken, for his homage and service, 11 a. in one ýeld
and 11 a. in another field in his manor of Rushall, namely 8 a. above
óSuthcumbeô abutting on óPortweyô which Alexander de Alno, clerk, held,
and 3 a. in óSuthcumbeô next the land which Miles de Franken held, and in
the other field 5 a. in óCuthfuerlangô which the same Alexander held next
the land which Simon de Borrchard held, and 3 a. in óNorthcumbeô which
the same Alexander held, those namely on which the land of Charlton
borders, and 2 a. in óNorthcumbeô which Alexander held next the land of
Simon de Borrchard, and 1 a. in óFulesladeô next the land which Robert
Medicus held; and free pasture for 6 animals, 1 horse, 4 pigs and 60 sheep
in the COI'I1I'I1OI'1 pasture where the freemen of Rushall pasture, rendering to
Fulk, 2s. for all services save those due to the king. Witnesses: Smaricus
Chaplain, Miles de Franken, Giles son of Miles, Richard son of the priest
(sacerdotis), Peter son of Edmund, Robert Pik, Adam Novus, Henry de
Cotick.

220 (f.75v).
Charter of Fulk de Auno granting to Thomas Brende for his homage and
service the messuage and croft which Robert Zouche held in Rushall and
the Pi virgate belonging to it which Azo held: in the south field at
óBradeweyô 1 a.; in the short furlong (curta quarentia) 1 a.; in the red (rubea)
furlong 1 a.; towards the bounds of Upavon li a.; in the south ýeld in
óCumbaô ó/5 a.; at óThornlynche' Z a. which Robert Cobbe held; and
another Z a. there which belonged to the messuage. In the north ýeld in




















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































